Asymptotic stability of the fourth-order ϕ^4 kink for general perturbations in the energy space

Christopher Maulén and Claudio Muñoz

Abstract. The fourth-order ϕ^4 model extends the classical ϕ^4 model of quantum field theory to the fourth-order case, but sharing the same kink solution. It is also the dispersive counterpart of the well-known parabolic Cahn–Hilliard equation. Mathematically speaking, the kink is characterized by a fourth-order nonnegative linear operator with a simple kernel at the origin but no spectral gap. In this paper, we consider the kink of this theory, and prove orbital and asymptotic stability for any perturbation in the energy space.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Preliminaries	10
3.	Orbital stability	14
4.	Asymptotic stability: First estimates	16
5.	Duality and second virial estimates	21
6.	Gain of regularity	33
7.	Coercivity estimates	44
8.	Proof of Theorem 1.2	50
A.	Proof of Lemma 2.2	54
Β.	Proof of Lemma 2.5	56
C.	Local well-posedness	56
Ret	ferences	64

1. Introduction

1.1. Setting

In this work we consider the *fourth-order* ϕ^4 *model*, or wave-Cahn–Hilliard equation. In one dimension this model is written as

$$\partial_t^2 \phi + \partial_x^2 (\partial_x^2 \phi + \phi - \phi^3) = 0, \quad (t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$
(1.1)

Keywords: wave Cahn—Hilliard, fourth-order ϕ^4 , kink, asymptotic stability, orbital stability.

Mathematics Subject Classification 2020: 35B35 (primary); 35B40,37K40 (secondary).

where $\phi = \phi(t, x)$ is assumed real valued. Equation (1.1) with quadratic nonlinearity and an additional linear term of order zero was considered by Bretherton [11] as a model for studying weakly nonlinear wave dispersion. It also appears with an additional parabolic term in [24].

There are several interesting and profound motivations to study (1.1). The first and most obvious one is given by its similarity to a recognized model of degenerate phase transitions. Indeed, the "parabolic" version of (1.1) is the well-known Cahn–Hilliard model

$$\partial_t \phi + \partial_x^2 (\partial_x^2 \phi + \phi - \phi^3) = 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}, \ t \ge 0,$$
(1.2)

introduced by Cahn and Hilliard in the study of phase separation in cooling binary solutions such as alloys, glasses and polymer mixtures [14]; see additionally [76, 77]. Major mathematical advances have been obtained for this model during past years, not only in one dimension but also in several dimensions. In this setting, a key question is the long-time behavior of kinks, usually referred to in the community as fronts. Among other essential works, one finds the foundational result by Bricmont, Kupiainen and Taskinen [12], who showed the stability and asymptotic stability of fronts in one dimension for (1.2). Many subsequent works have extended and improved this achievement. These results will be described in detail in Section 1.3.

Additionally, (1.1) can be recast as the natural fourth-order extension of the wellknown ϕ^4 model of quantum field theory,

$$\partial_t^2 \phi - (\partial_x^2 \phi + \phi - \phi^3) = 0, \quad (t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^2, \tag{1.3}$$

that has been extensively studied during past years. The ϕ^4 kink

$$H(x) = \tanh\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right),\tag{1.4}$$

is a notable example of a simple solution of (1.3) with challenging dynamical behavior, and its general behavior is still unknown to us. In [42] (see also [41]), the authors showed asymptotic stability for odd perturbations in the energy space. A proof for the general case is still missing.

Another interesting motivation for the study of (1.1) is given by its defocusing character, opposite to the focusing one present in the good-Boussinesq model. See [68] for a detailed introduction to the soliton problem in good-Boussinesq models. The latter model and the dynamics of their (unstable) solitons has been studied by many authors during past years. But, contrary to good-Boussinesq, the model studied in this work will have more physical interest.

Precisely, the fourth and final motivation to study (1.1) comes from the fact that it possesses, as well as Cahn–Hilliard and ϕ^4 , stable kink solutions. In the fourth-order ϕ^4 case, the kink coincides with the one for ϕ^4 , and as far as we understand, for (1.1) there is not even a single kink stability result. Consequently, in this paper our main objective is to initiate the study of the dynamics of kinks for (1.1) dealing with the one-dimensional case for general data in the energy space.

Following Linares [52], equation (1.1) can be rewritten formally taking

$$\boldsymbol{\phi} = (\phi_1, \phi_2) = (\phi, \partial_x^{-1} \partial_t \phi),$$

and obtaining the following representation as a 2×2 system:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \phi_1 = \partial_x \phi_2, \\ \partial_t \phi_2 = -\partial_x (\partial_x^2 \phi_1 + \phi_1 - \phi_1^3). \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

This system admits kink solutions given by

$$\boldsymbol{H}_{c} = (H_{c}, -cH_{c})(x - ct - x_{0}), \quad c \in \mathbb{R}, \ x_{0} \in \mathbb{R},$$

where $\pm H_c$ solves the ODE

$$H_c'' + (c^2 + 1)H_c - H_c^3 = 0, \quad H_c(\pm \infty) = \pm \sigma = \pm \sqrt{1 + c^2}.$$
 (1.6)

One has that H_c is a rescaled version of the ϕ^4 kink:

$$H_c(x) = \sigma H(\sigma x), \quad H(x) \text{ given in (1.4)},$$

which differs from the general kink from (1.3) in the sense that the former only has the Lorentz boost as its scaling symmetry. This subtle difference will remain very important for the main results of this paper.

System (1.5) will be the exact model worked in this paper. It has the following associated conserved quantities:

$$E[\phi] = E[\phi_1, \phi_2] = \frac{1}{2} \int \left[(\partial_x \phi_1)^2 + \phi_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} (\phi_1^2 - 1)^2 \right] \quad \text{(energy)},$$

$$P[\phi] = P[\phi_1, \phi_2] = \int \phi_1 \phi_2 \qquad (\text{momentum}).$$
(1.7)

(Here $\int \text{means } \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx$.) The quantity *P* has no good meaning around the kink solution if one works barely in the energy space, and will be loosely used in this general form. However, its second variation around the kink is perfectly well defined and will be the key element to study the long-time behavior of kinks. Following [45], the set of functions $\phi \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}) \times L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R})$ for which the energy is finite is

$$E = \{ (\phi_1, \phi_2) \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}) \times L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}) \mid \partial_x \phi_1, \phi_2 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}), \ (\phi_1^2 - 1) \in L^2 \}.$$
(1.8)

To study the stability of the static kink

$$H(x) = H_0 = (H, 0) = \left(\tanh\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right), 0 \right), \tag{1.9}$$

we introduce the subset of E in (1.8) given by

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\boldsymbol{H}} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\phi} \in \boldsymbol{E} \mid \boldsymbol{\phi} - \boldsymbol{H} \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}) \times L^{2}(\mathbb{R}) \right\}.$$
(1.10)

Let us consider a shift modulation $\rho(t)$ induced by a perturbation $\phi \in E_H$ in (1.5) of H of the form

$$\phi_1(t,x) = H(x - \rho(t)) + u_1(t,x), \quad \phi_2(t,x) = u_2(t,x),$$

such that

$$\langle \boldsymbol{u}(t), \boldsymbol{H}'(\cdot - \rho(t)) \rangle = \langle u_1(t), \boldsymbol{H}'(x - \rho(t)) \rangle = 0, \quad \langle a, b \rangle \coloneqq \int ab \, dx. \tag{1.11}$$

Then from (1.5) one can see that the perturbation satisfies the following space-time, variable coefficients system:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u_1 = \partial_x u_2 + \rho' H'(\cdot - \rho), \\ \partial_t u_2 = \partial_x \mathcal{L} u_1 + \partial_x (3H(\cdot - \rho)u_1^2 + u_1^3), \end{cases}$$
(1.12)

where

$$\mathcal{L} = -\partial_x^2 + V_0(\cdot - \rho), \quad \text{with } V_0(x) = -1 + 3H^2(x) = 2 - 3\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right). \quad (1.13)$$

Note that \mathcal{L} coincides with the unbounded linear operator appearing around the ϕ^4 kink. Recalling [42,45,62] (see also Lemma 2.1 for further details), one has that \mathcal{L} is nonnegative and it has absolutely continuous spectrum [2, ∞). Additionally, the discrete spectrum consists of the simple eigenvalues $\lambda_0 = 0$ and $\lambda_1 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$, with eigenfunctions

$$Y_0(x) = H'$$
 and $Y_1(x) = \operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \tanh\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right)$, (1.14)

respectively. Finally, $\lambda_2 = 2$ is a threshold resonance, in the sense that $\mathcal{L}\phi = 2\phi$ possesses a smooth $L^{\infty} \setminus L^2$ solution with spatial derivative in L^2 .

In the case of (1.12) the situation has its own particularities, similar to the ones already present in [68], in the sense that now the corresponding linear operator is $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$, which is of fourth order and the composition of two second-order operators. The properties of this operator differ from \mathcal{L} itself in the sense that (Lemma 2.2) $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$ is nonnegative and it has absolutely continuous spectrum $[0, \infty)$, namely, as in KdV, there is no spectral gap. There are no embedded eigenvalues in the continuous spectrum nor resonances, but $\lambda_0 = 0$ is an eigenvalue with kernel Y_0 in (1.14), generated by the invariance under shifts of the model. There is an additional linearly growing odd mode at the origin, which in one dimension is usually harmless. Notice that any suitable scaling modulation of the kink costs infinite energy and for this reason will not be present in this work.

1.2. Main results

Our first result is the orbital stability of the fourth-order ϕ^4 kink:

Theorem 1.1. Let H be the kink introduced in (1.9). There exist $\delta_* > 0$ and $C^* > 0$ such that for any $\phi^{in} \in E_H$, with

$$\|\phi^{\rm in} - H\|_{H^1 \times L^2} \le \delta_*, \tag{1.15}$$

there exists a unique global solution $\phi \in C(\mathbb{R}, E_H)$ of (1.5) with $\phi(0) = \phi^{\text{in}}$. Moreover, for some smooth $\rho(t) \in \mathbb{R}$, one has

$$\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \| \boldsymbol{\phi}(t, \cdot + \rho(t)) - \boldsymbol{H} \|_{H^1 \times L^2} \le C^* \| \boldsymbol{\phi}^{\text{in}} - \boldsymbol{H} \|_{H^1 \times L^2}.$$
(1.16)

Some previous results are needed for the proof of this theorem, among them a wellposedness theory for perturbations of the kink in the energy space whose proof relies on standard energy arguments; see e.g. [45]. The proof of this fact is given in Section 2 and follows the ideas of Linares [52].

In the case of scalar field models, orbital stability was proved by Henry, Perez and Wreszinski [30] in the case of static kinks. The general case is contained in [45].

Although the proof of Theorem 1.1 will follow standard ideas, it is worth mentioning that no result of this type has appeared in the literature for the case of the fourth-order ϕ^4 model. An interesting open question is to prove (1.16) in the case of infinite energy perturbations that allow for scaling variations. In that case, the energy will no longer be useful, at least in the classical sense. Our main results, orbital and asymptotic stability, stated for data in the energy space only, provide a satisfactory answer as in the parabolic setting [12]. Indeed, in the "hyperbolic" case, the final state asymptotics will also be found in the case of general data perturbations.

Theorem 1.2 (Asymptotic stability). Under assumption (1.15) in Theorem 1.1, and by making $\delta_* > 0$ smaller if necessary, one has that for any compact interval I of \mathbb{R} and $\gamma > 0$ small enough,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \left(\|\phi(t, \cdot + \rho(t)) - H\|_{L^{\infty}(I)} + \|(1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_t \phi(t, \cdot + \rho(t))\|_{H^1(I)} \right) = 0.$$
(1.17)

Recall that convergence on the whole line will imply that the data is the kink itself. In that sense, Theorem 1.2 is optimal if one considers the energy space topology only. Compared with the results in [12] for the parabolic Cahn–Hilliard model and subsequent improvements, the Hamiltonian character of the dynamics forbids a better understanding of the exterior regions without the use of well-chosen weighted norms. Additionally, the parabolic dynamics possesses several key elements that are not present here, the most important being the presence of good decaying functionals to measure the long-time dynamics.

The parameter $\gamma > 0$ in Theorem 1.2 depends on δ , in particular, any fixed $0 < \gamma \sim \delta^{2/5}$ suffices to prove (1.17). Additionally, general data with no restriction naturally induce shifts in the dynamics. This shift parameter in (1.17) satisfies a particular equation that suggests that, unless one asks for additional space decay at time zero, there will not be

convergence of $\rho(t)$ as time tends to infinity. This is in strong contrast with scalar field models as in [37, 38, 45], where convergence was ensured by quadratic estimates on the shift parameters.

It is also interesting to compare Theorem 1.2 with the foundational asymptotic stability result for the defocusing mKdV kink obtained by Merle and Vega [70]. The fourth-order ϕ^4 kink requires more care because of its character as a nonlinear system of equations. They showed weak convergence of any (suitably shifted) perturbation of the kink towards the kink itself, once again thanks to the impossibility of performing scalings without spending an infinite amount of energy. This structural rigidity is present in other models; see e.g. the case of the Peregrine breather [72]. We believe that our techniques provide a locally stronger version of the results in [70], and probably improvements of [71] as well.

We believe that our results open the door to the understanding of the long-time solitary wave dynamics in more general fourth-order models, as well as several other Boussinesq models. We mention for instance the asymptotic stability, without parity condition, of the good-Boussinesq standing wave (see [68]), of some particular *abcd* solitary waves, at least in the zero-speed even-data case [7,8]. Some of these models have important physical meaning and are of the utmost interest as well.

1.3. Previous results

We briefly comment now on the main previous contributions to the kink asymptotic stability problem in our setting. We classify them into three different lines: the Boussinesq models, the Cahn–Hilliard model and the ϕ^4 and similar models.

The fourth-order ϕ^4 model (1.1) is part of the family of Boussinesq [10] models highly studied in the literature. One important aspect that is not completely understood is the behavior of solitary waves in the long-time dynamics. For a complete review of this model in the "focusing case", the reader may consult the introduction in [68]. The literature is extensive and we will concentrate ourselves on the soliton problem. Bona and Sachs [9] showed the stability of fast solitary waves for the so-called good Boussinesq model. Slow solitary waves are unstable and may develop blow-up [61]. Pego and Weinstein [79, 80] addressed the asymptotic stability problem for the first time in the case of the so-called improved Boussinesq model (see also [69]) revealing its difficulty compared with other fluid models. Precisely, compared with (1.1), the former has strongly unstable directions, specially in the case of the standing wave which was proved asymptotically stable in [68], provided one works orthogonal to the unstable manifold. Our proofs follow the spirit of the results in [68] (see also a previous work in the case of the improved Boussinesq system [69]); however, unlike in previous works where parity was needed, here we are able to consider the problem in full generality. Previous decay results are available for the Bona, Chen and Saut *abcd* model [7, 8]; see the references [47, 48].

The long-time behavior of kinks (or fronts) in the parabolic Cahn–Hilliard model [14] has been addressed by many authors during the past decades. Novick-Cohen and Segel [77] and Novick-Cohen [76] provided foundational energy methods to describe the

dynamics in the case of the originally motivated strongly degenerate Cahn–Hilliard model. In [23], local and global well-posedness and long-time behavior for Cahn–Hilliard on an interval were first obtained. Pego [78] used matched asymptotics to describe the evolution in higher dimensions of the phase separation in the singular perturbative regime. Later, Caffarelli and Muler [13] provided rigorous L^{∞} bounds for this regime. Alikakos, Bates and Chen [4] showed that level surfaces of solutions to the Cahn–Hilliard equation tend to solutions of the Hele-Shaw problem under the assumption that classical solutions of the latter exist. As previously mentioned, Bricmont, Kupiainen and Taskinen [12] provided a foundational result proving that the kink in one dimension is asymptotically stable: if the perturbation is continuous and for some p > 2, $\|\langle x \rangle^p (\phi - H)\|_{L^{\infty}}$ is small enough, then for some $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|\phi(t) - H(\cdot - x_0)\|_{L^{\infty}} = 0$$

A more precise asymptotics of the remainder term is also given. The method of proof involves but it is not limited to the renormalization group technique. It is interesting to mention that in the energy space, the convergence of the shift parameter in Theorem 1.2 towards a final state is probably not possible unless one adds additional information on the initial data of the problem. The reader may also consult a simplified proof [15] of the kink asymptotic stability by using free energy techniques. Later, Korvola, Kupiainen and Taskinen [40] (see also [39]) extended the one-dimensional result to dimension $d \ge 3$ and any p > d + 1. There is an interesting anomalous decay for the problem in higher dimensions, and the shift must take into account the transversal perturbations; however, it converges to zero as time tends to infinity, unlike in the one-dimensional case.

In the case of a generalized version of the one-dimensional Cahn–Hilliard equation, Howard [32] established that linear stability of fronts implies nonlinear stability. Nonlinear orbital stability is established for waves with initial perturbations of algebraic decay, under the spectral stability assumption, described in terms of the Evans function. Later, Howard [31] established that the planar wave solutions are asymptotically stable, in the ddimensional Cahn–Hilliard equation, with $d \ge 2$. In this result, it is required that the initial perturbations decay at an appropriate algebraic rate in an L^1 norm of the transverse variables; and in [33], the same author considers the multidimensional Cahn–Hilliard system, showing for the planar transition front solutions that spectral stability implies nonlinear stability.

Finally, Theorem 1.2 can be recast as an extension into the fourth-order ϕ^4 model of the stable [30] kink asymptotic stability proved in [42] using essentially virial identities (see [41] for a simplified proof and [21] for an extension of the previous result). As previously explained, the data considered in [42] is odd and the general case is still open. Earlier results in this direction were obtained by Cuccagna [20], who considered the ϕ^4 kink in three dimensions, and using vector field methods showed the asymptotic stability of the ϕ^4 kink. Under higher-order weighted norms, Kopylova and Komech [37, 38] showed asymptotic stability of kinks of highly degenerate scalar field theories. Delort and Masmoudi [22] applied Fourier analysis techniques and proved a detailed asymptotics for odd perturbations of the kink up to times $O(\varepsilon^{-4})$, where ε is the size of the perturbation. In [45], a sufficient condition is given to describe the long-time dynamics of kink perturbations for any data in the energy space, including many models of interest in quantum field theory [62] (except sine-Gordon and ϕ^4). In this case, kinks must be modulated in terms of scaling (the Lorentz boost) and shifts, which makes computations harder than usual. Cuccagna and Maeda provided a new sufficient condition to have asymptotic stability [21] in the odd data case. Snelson [81] considered the case of the ϕ^4 kink in the presence of variable coefficients. The case of the integrable sine-Gordon kink has attracted attention during past years due to its complexity and lack of kink asymptotic stability in the energy space; see [3, 16, 63, 73] and references therein. The case of collision of kink structures was treated in [35].

Another point of view, equivalent to the treatment of kinks under symmetry assumptions (essentially no shifts or Lorentz boosts), is given by the study of one-dimensional nonlinear Klein-Gordon models under variable coefficients. Foundational works in three dimensions were obtained by Soffer and Weinstein [82–84]. In this direction we mention previous scattering results by Lindblad and Soffer [57–59], Hayashi and Naumkin [27–29], Sternbenz [85], Bambusi and Cuccagna [5], Lindblad and Tao [60] and Lindblad et. al. [54–56]. These results have recently been improved by considering quadratic nonlinearities; see the scattering results by Germain and Pusateri [25]; see also [26]. The dynamics of solitons in nonlinear Klein–Gordon models has concentrated much effort during past years. We mention three-dimensional and one-dimensional works on the description of the manifold by Krieger, Nakanishi and Schlag [46] and Nakanishi and Schlag [75], and earlier results by Ibrahim, Masmoudi and Nakanishi [34]. Recently, one- and three-dimensional subcritical dynamics around the soliton have been addressed in great detail in [6, 17, 18, 36, 43, 44, 49–51, 64] in the presence of at least one unstable mode.

1.4. Idea of proofs

We will use localized virial estimates to show the asymptotic stability of the fourth-order ϕ^4 kink. Virials have been previously used in many complex dynamics; see e.g. [1, 2, 42, 44, 66, 67]. In this paper, we follow ideas from [68], which are based on previous ones from Kowalczyk, Martel and the second author in [44] and Kowalczyk, Martel, the second author and Van Den Bosch [45] to study the stability properties of kinks for (1+1)-dimensional nonlinear scalar field theories.

The first step is to decompose the solution close to the kink as follows: we choose $\rho(t)$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \phi_1(t, x) = H(y) + u_1(t, x), & y = x - \rho(t), \\ \phi_2(t, x) = u_2(t, x), \end{cases}$$

and $\langle u_1, H'(y) \rangle = 0$ and $||(u_1(t), u_2(t))||_{H^1 \times L^2} \le \delta$. Notice that we have chosen not to follow the standard centering performed in [45]. There are several reasons to follow a different approach. The most relevant is that multi-kink structures do not center well,

specially in the case of several kinks. Another reason is that centering and multiple derivatives as in (1.1) do not cooperate well with each other.

Then we will focus on $(u_1, u_2) \in H^1 \times L^2$, which satisfy the linearized equation (1.12). Following [68, 74], for an adequate weight function φ_A placed at scale A large, we obtain the virial estimate (see (4.19))

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int \varphi_A(y) u_1 u_2 \leq -\frac{1}{2} \int [w_2^2 + 2(\partial_x w_1)^2 + (2 - C_1 \delta) w_1^2] + C_1 \int \operatorname{sech}(y) u_1^2 + C_1 \rho'^2, \qquad (1.18)$$

where (w_1, w_2) is a localized version of (u_1, u_2) at *A* scale, and C_1 denotes a fixed constant. This virial estimate is standard now but it is not enough to conclude because of the terms $C_1 \int \operatorname{sech}(y)u_1^2$ and ρ'^2 (which is only of quadratic nature). Then we require to transform the system to a new one which has better virial estimates, in the spirit of Martel [65]. For any $\gamma > 0$ small enough, we define new variables $(v_1, v_2) \in H^1 \times H^2$ by

$$\begin{cases} v_1 = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \mathcal{L} u_1, \\ v_2 = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} u_2 \end{cases}$$

(see (5.1)). In [68], this change of variable was enough to describe the stable manifold related to the unstable static soliton. Here we have additional complications since shifts are nontrivial perturbations and $(v_1, v_2) \in H^1 \times H^2$ follow modified dynamics. In particular, $|\rho'|$ is only linear in (u_1, u_2) , unlike in scalar field models. However, a surprising miracle happens and the new system for (v_1, v_2) (see (5.2)) satisfies, for an adequate weight function $\psi_{A,B}$, $B \ll A$, the new virial estimate (see (5.7))

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int \psi_{A,B} v_1 v_2 \le -\frac{1}{2} \int [z_1^2 + (V_0 - C_2 \delta^{1/10}) z_2^2 + 2(\partial_x z_2)^2] + \text{l.o.t.}, \quad (1.19)$$

where (z_1, z_2) is a localized version of (v_1, v_2) , at the smaller scale B, V_0 is given by (1.13) and C_2 denotes a fixed constant. An important point here is that the operator $-2\partial_y^2 + V_0$ is now positive, and ρ' has a critical almost zero contribution in (1.19), which is not the case in (1.18). The cancelation of the contribution by ρ' is part of a new idea that reveals that shift and scaling modulations should be treated as if they were additional internal modes (recall that they are not), just as is done in scalar field models. This is the main new outcome of this paper, which allows us to treat shifts in a simple fashion in the case of fourth-order ϕ^4 kink perturbations.

Following [44], in order to combine estimates (1.18) and (1.19) we need an estimate for the term before last in (1.18). A coercive estimate is proved in terms of the variables (w_1, w_2) and (z_1, z_2) (see (7.2)):

$$\int \operatorname{sech}(y)u_1^2 \lesssim \delta^{1/20}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2) + \delta^{-1/20}\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5}\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(1.20)

We can directly observe that the term $\partial_x z_1$ does not appear in (1.19), leading to the main obstruction present in this paper. This problem is deeply related to the fact that $(v_1, v_2) \in H^1 \times H^2$, i.e. the new variables are in opposite order of regularity.

In order to overcome this problem, we introduce a series of modifications that will allow us to close estimates (1.18) and (1.19) properly. First, we must gain derivatives. In a new virial estimate for the system of $(\partial_x v_1, \partial_x v_2)$ (see (6.2)), we obtain the third virial estimate

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int \psi_{A,B} \partial_x v_1 \partial_x v_2$$

$$\leq -\frac{1}{2} \int ((\partial_x z_1)^2 + (V_0 - C_3 \delta^{1/10}) (\partial_x z_2)^2 + 2(\partial_x^2 z_2)^2) + \text{l.o.t.}, \quad (1.21)$$

with $C_3 > 0$ fixed. This new estimate give us local L^2 control on $\partial_x z_1$ and $\partial_x^2 z_2$, which was not present before. Together with a similar estimate as (1.20), and in order to control ρ'^2 and combine estimates (1.18) and (1.19), we need an estimate for the last terms in (1.18). A coercive estimate is proved in terms of the variables (w_1, w_2) and (z_1, z_2) (see (7.11)):

$$\rho^{\prime 2} \lesssim \delta^{1/20} \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{-1/20} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{3/5} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(1.22)

Finally, we consider a functional \mathcal{H} being a well-chosen linear combination of (1.18), (1.19), (1.21), (1.20) and (1.22). We get

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{H}(t) \le -\delta^{1/10}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) \quad \text{for all } t \ge 0.$$

This final estimate allows us to close estimates, and prove local decay for u_1 after some standard change of variables from w_i to u_j .

Organization of this paper

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we provide several basic but not less important elements for the study of the fourth-order ϕ^4 model. Section 3 is devoted to the proof of Theorem 1.1. Finally, Sections 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 deal with the proof of the asymptotic stability of the kink, Theorem 1.2.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Linear operators

Recall \mathcal{L} introduced in (1.13). The following results are standard; see [62].

Lemma 2.1 (Properties of \mathcal{L}). The linear unbounded operator \mathcal{L} , defined in L^2 with domain H^2 , satisfies the following properties:

- (1) The absolutely continuous spectrum of \mathcal{L} is $[2, \infty)$.
- (2) \mathcal{L} is self-adjoint and nonnegative.
- (3) The discrete spectrum consists of simple eigenvalues $\lambda_0 = 0$ and $\lambda_1 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$, with eigenfunctions

$$Y_0 = H'$$
 and $Y_1(x) = \operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \tanh\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right)$,

respectively.

In a similar way, we have the following properties for the more involved operator $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$:

Lemma 2.2 (Properties of $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$). The linear operator $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$ defined in (1.13), posed in L^2 with domain H^4 , satisfies the following properties:

- (1) The absolutely continuous spectrum of $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$ is $[0, \infty)$.
- (2) $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$ is nonnegative.
- (3) $\ker(-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{span}\{H'\}.$

The proofs of the first two statements are direct. For the proof of the last result, see Appendix A.

Remark 2.1. Unlike good Boussinesq, the operator \mathcal{L} appearing in the case of kinks has even kernel H', implying that the equation $\mathcal{L}A = 1$ cannot have bounded solutions. Resonances are therefore excluded in this case. See [68] for the case where resonances but no shifts are allowed.

2.2. Coercivity

The linearization of (1.5) around H involves the operator (1.13) and $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}$. Here, we recall a few properties of the operator \mathcal{L} .

Let the bilinear form

$$H(u,v) = \langle \mathcal{L}(u), v \rangle = \int (\partial_x u \partial_x v + V_0 u v),$$

where V_0 is given in (1.13).

Lemma 2.3 (Coercivity [42]). If $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ satisfies $\langle u, Y_0 \rangle = 0$, where Y_0 is the even eigenfunction associated to eigenvalue $\lambda_0 = 0$ of operator \mathcal{L} , then

$$H(u,u) \ge \frac{3}{7} \|u\|_{H^1}^2.$$
(2.1)

We will need a weighted version of the previous result, which uses (2.1). See [68] for a similar proof.

Lemma 2.4 (Coercivity with weight function). Consider the bilinear form

$$H_{\phi_L}(u,v) = \langle \sqrt{\phi_L} \mathcal{L}(u), \sqrt{\phi_L} v \rangle = \int \phi_L(\partial_x u \partial_x v + V_0 u v),$$

for ϕ_L such that $|\phi'_L| \leq CL\phi_L$, with C not depending on L. Then there exists $\lambda > 0$ independent of L small such that

$$H_{\phi_L}(u,u) \ge \lambda \int \phi_L((\partial_x u)^2 + u^2)$$

for all $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying $\langle u, Y_0 \rangle = 0$, and provided L is taken small enough, independent of the size of u.

2.3. Technical identities related to the operator $\mathcal L$

The next lemma will be useful for the first computations related to virial identities, which allow us to prove the asymptotic stability of the static kink.

Lemma 2.5. Let η be a smooth bounded function, and $(f, g) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \times H^1(\mathbb{R})$. The following identities hold:

$$\langle \eta \mathcal{L}(f), g \rangle = \int \eta [\partial_x f \,\partial_x g + V_0 f g] + \langle \eta' \partial_x f, g \rangle, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\langle \eta \partial_x \mathcal{L}(f), f \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \int \eta' [3(\partial_x f)^2 + V_0 f^2] + \frac{1}{2} \int \eta V_0' f^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \eta''' f^2 \qquad (2.3)$$

and

$$\langle \eta \mathcal{L}(\partial_x f), f \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \int \eta' [3(\partial_x f)^2 + V_0 f^2] - \frac{1}{2} \int \eta V_0' f^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \eta''' f^2.$$
(2.4)

For the proof see Appendix B.

2.4. Ill-posedness

Before considering perturbations of the kink solution, we will make some remarks about the case of small data around the zero solution. It is expected, as in the case of ϕ^4 or Allen–Cahn, that this state is unstable. However, some interesting remarks about local existence can be made in the fourth-order ϕ^4 case.

System (1.1) can be written as

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \phi + \partial_x^2 \varphi = 0, \\ \partial_t \varphi - \partial_x^2 \phi - \phi = -\phi^3. \end{cases}$$

Let $\psi = \phi + i\varphi$; then

$$i\partial_t \psi + \partial_x^2 \psi + \operatorname{Re} \psi = (\operatorname{Re} \psi)^3$$

From this we can see that w has interesting similarities with the equations appearing in the study of the Peregrine breather [72]. Indeed, the linear fourth-order ϕ^4 equation has the same instability issues as NLS around a nonzero background. From a standard frequency analysis, we get for a formal standing wave $\phi = e^{i(kx-wt)}$ solution to the linear (1.1), one has

$$w(k) = \pm |k|\sqrt{k^2 - 1},$$

which reveals that for small wave numbers (|k| < 1) the linear equation behaves in an "elliptic" setting, and exponentially in time growing modes are present from small perturbation of the vacuum solution. Unlike [72], where one still has well-posedness in H^s , $s > \frac{1}{2}$ in the nonlinear case, that approach fails here because of the two derivatives in the nonlinearity.

2.5. Local well-posedness in a neighborhood of the kink

Contrary to Section 2.4, perturbations of heteroclinic kinks do not suffer from the lack of well-posedness. To prove well-posedness around the kink solution we will adapt the well-posedness proof by Linares [52] (see also [53]). Most of the concern is given by how the linear flow can recover the two derivatives present in the nonlinearity. Let $\delta > 0$ small enough be chosen later. We consider an initial data $u^{in} \in E_H$ (see (1.10)) such that (1.15) is satisfied.

In this section, we are looking for a solution $\phi(t)$ of (1.5) in E_H for all time with initial data ϕ^{in} . Now we will focus on the local well-posedness of the perturbed system around the static kink for equation (1.5). Here, it is remarkable that around the static kink the nature of the solution changes drastically: here, the exponential growth of the section above is not present.

We consider an initial data which is perturbation around the static kink, i.e. an initial data of system (1.5) which has the form

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}^{\text{in}} = (H(x) + u_1^0(x), u_2^0(x)), \tag{2.5}$$

and setting $\boldsymbol{u}(t, x) = \boldsymbol{\phi}(t) - \boldsymbol{H}$, we reduce our problem to solving the system

$$\partial_t u_1 = \partial_x u_2,$$

$$\partial_t u_2 = \partial_x (-\partial_x^2 u_1 + 2u_1 + F(t, x, u_1)),$$
(2.6)

in $H^1 \times L^2$, where

$$F(t, x, u_1) = 3u_1(H^2 - 1) + u_1^2(u_1 + 3H).$$
(2.7)

Notice that *F* is locally Lipschitz in the third variable, i.e. there exists C > 0, such that for any v, w, if $||u||_{L^{\infty}} \le 1$, $||w||_{L^{\infty}} \le 1$, then

$$|F(t, x, u) - F(t, x, w)| = |u - w| |3(H^2 - 1) + u^2 + (u + w)(w + 3H)|$$

$$\leq C|u - w|.$$
(2.8)

The fourth-order ϕ^4 linearization around the static kink (see (2.6)) hides a slightly modified good-Boussinesq equation structure. That means that the linear part of (2.6) is essentially the same as the linear good-Boussinesq equation. We can see that by Duhamel's principle, the associated solution is represented as

$$u_1(t,x) = \mathcal{G}(t)u_1^0(x) + \mathcal{K}(t)u_2^0(x) + \int_0^t \mathcal{K}(t-s)\partial_x^2 F(s,x,u_1) \, ds,$$

where

$$\mathscr{G}(t) = \mathscr{F}^{-1}G(t,\xi)\mathscr{F}, \quad \mathscr{K}(t) = \mathscr{F}^{-1}K(t,\xi)\mathscr{F}.$$

and \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{-1} represent the Fourier transform and its inverse, respectively. The Fourier multipliers are given by

$$G(t,\xi) = \cos(\omega(\xi)t), \quad K(t,\xi) = \frac{\sin(\omega(\xi)t)}{\omega(\xi)},$$

where $\omega(\xi) = |\xi| \sqrt{\xi^2 + 2}$. Then, following Linares' work [52,53] and noticing that *F* in (2.7) is locally Lipschitz and satisfies

$$|F| \lesssim |u_1| e^{-\sqrt{2}|x-\rho|} + u_1^2 + |u_1|^3, \tag{2.9}$$

we conclude that the equation (2.6) is locally well posed in $H^1 \times L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Using the conserved quantities (1.7), we obtain the global well-posedness of (2.6). To see the complete proof, the reader may consult Appendix C.

In this paper, we will only need the above notion of solution $\phi = (\phi_1, \phi_2)$ of (1.5). Now we are ready to face the orbital stability of the static kink.

3. Orbital stability

First, we will establish the energy and momentum of the static kink, as well as their perturbations.

Lemma 3.1. Let *E* and *P* be defined as in (1.7). The following are satisfied:

(1) Conservation laws for the static kink:

$$E[\mathbf{H}] = \|H'\|_{L^2}^2, \quad P[\mathbf{H}] = 0.$$
(3.1)

(2) Additionally, for any $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, u_2)$ such that $||u_1||_{L^{\infty}} \leq 1$,

$$E[\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{u}] = E[\mathbf{H}] + \frac{1}{2}[||u_2||_{L^2}^2 + \langle \mathcal{L}u_1, u_1 \rangle] + R_{u_1}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where $|R_{u_1}| \leq C ||u_1||_{L^{\infty}} ||u_1||_{L^2}^2$.

Proof of Lemma 3.1. *Proof of* (3.1). Recalling that H = (H, 0), one immediately obtains that P[H] = 0. Furthermore, from (1.6) for c = 0, we have $(H')^2 = (1 - H^2)^2/2$, concluding that $E[H] = ||H'||_{L^2}^2$.

Proof of (3.2). Expanding the energy, we get

$$E[H + u] = \frac{1}{2} \int ((\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2 + (\partial_x H)^2 + 2H' \partial_x u_1) + \frac{1}{4} \int [u_1^2 (u_1 + 2H)^2 + 2u_1 (u_1 + 2H) (H^2 - 1) + (H^2 - 1)^2] = \frac{1}{2} \int (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2 + (\partial_x H)^2 - \int H'' u_1 + \frac{1}{4} \int [u_1^2 (u_1 + 2H)^2 + 2u_1 (u_1 + 2H) (H^2 - 1) + (H^2 - 1)^2].$$

Using (1.6), we obtain

$$\begin{split} E[\boldsymbol{H} + \boldsymbol{u}] &= \frac{1}{2} \int (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2 + (-1 + 3H^2)u_1^2 + (\partial_x H)^2 + \frac{1}{2}(H^2 - 1)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \int [u_1^2(u_1 + 2H)^2 + 2u_1(u_1 + 2H)(H^2 - 1)] \\ &+ 4u_1H(1 - H^2) + 2(1 - 3H^2)u_1^2 \\ &= E[\boldsymbol{H}] + \frac{1}{2}(\langle \mathcal{L}u_1, u_1 \rangle + \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2) + \frac{1}{4} \int u_1^3[u_1 + 4H]. \end{split}$$

Letting $R_{u_1} = \frac{1}{4} \int u_1^3 [u_1 + 4H]$, we quickly obtain that $|R_{u_1}| \le C ||u_1||_{L^{\infty}} ||u_1||_{L^2}^2$. This concludes the proof of lemma.

Proof of Theorem 1.1. Let ϕ be the local-in-time solution of (1.5) with initial data ϕ^{in} given in (2.5), satisfying (1.15). For C > 1 to be chosen later, define

$$T^* = \sup\{t \ge 0 \mid \boldsymbol{\phi} \text{ is well defined on } [0, t] \text{ and} \\ \sup_{s \in [0, t]} \inf_{\rho \in \mathbb{R}} \|\boldsymbol{\phi}(s) - \boldsymbol{H}(\cdot - \rho)\|_{H^1 \times L^2} \le C^* \delta. \}$$

By continuity and (1.15), we get T^* is well defined and $T^* > 0$. Then, if $T^* < \infty$, using a continuity argument and the smallness of the initial data (see (1.15)), ϕ is well defined on $[0, T^1]$ for some $T^1 > T^*$ and it will hold that

$$\inf_{\rho \in \mathbb{R}} \| \boldsymbol{\phi}(T^*) - \boldsymbol{H}(\cdot - \rho) \|_{H^1 \times L^2} = C^* \delta.$$
(3.3)

Assuming that T^* is finite, we work on the interval $[0, T^*]$. Considering that ϕ has the form H + u, we get from (3.2),

$$E[\boldsymbol{H} + \boldsymbol{u}](t) - E[\boldsymbol{H}] = \frac{1}{2}[\|u_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \langle \mathcal{L}u_1, u_1 \rangle] + R_{u_1},$$

so that using the conservation of energy (Lemma 3.1) and (3.3),

$$\frac{1}{2}[\|u_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \langle \mathcal{L}u_1, u_1 \rangle] = \frac{1}{2}[\|u_2(0)\|_{L^2}^2 + \langle \mathcal{L}u_1(0), u_1(0) \rangle] + R_{u_1(0)} - R_{u_1} \le C\delta^2 + C(C^*)^3\delta^3.$$

The coercivity of the operator \mathcal{L} (Lemma 2.3 and (1.11)) gives that for some fixed $\mu, C > 0$,

$$\mu \| \boldsymbol{u} \|_{H^1 \times L^2}^2 \le C\delta^2 + C(C^*)^3 \delta^3.$$

Thus, for all $t \in [0, T^*]$, if δ is small enough,

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{H^1 \times L^2}^2 \le \frac{2C}{\mu} \delta^2; \tag{3.4}$$

here *C* and μ are independent of *C*^{*}. Fixing $(C^*)^2 > C/\mu$ we get a contradiction with (3.3). Therefore, ϕ is a global solution for $t \ge 0$, *T*^{*} and (3.4) hold for any $t \ge 0$. This concludes the proof of Theorem 1.1.

4. Asymptotic stability: First estimates

Consider a small perturbation of the kink solution H = (H, 0). In what follows we will describe this decomposition, introduce some notation, and develop a virial estimate for the fourth-order ϕ^4 system (1.5).

4.1. Decomposition of the solution in the vicinity of a kink

Let $\boldsymbol{\phi} = (\phi, \partial_t \partial_x^{-1} \phi) = (\phi_1, \phi_2)$ be a solution of (1.5) satisfying

$$\|\phi(t, \cdot + \rho(t)) - H\|_{H^1 \times L^2} = \|u(t)\|_{H^1 \times L^2} \le C_0 \delta$$
(4.1)

for all $t \ge 0$, where δ is defined from the initial data ϕ^{in} (2.5), to be taken small enough. Recall the decomposition for ϕ :

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}(t,x) = \boldsymbol{H}(x-\rho(t)) + \boldsymbol{u}(t,x), \quad \text{where } \boldsymbol{u} = (u_1(t,x), u_2(t,x)) \quad (4.2)$$

satisfies $\langle \boldsymbol{u}(t), \boldsymbol{H}'(\cdot - \rho(t)) \rangle =$
 $\langle u_1(t), \boldsymbol{H}'(\cdot - \rho(t)) \rangle = 0.$

Note that (4.1) and Theorem 1.1 now read

$$\|u_1(t)\|_{H^1} + \|u_2(t)\|_{L^2} \le C_0\delta.$$
(4.3)

Additionally, from (1.12) *u* satisfies the equation

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{u} = \partial_x \boldsymbol{J} \boldsymbol{L} \boldsymbol{u} + \partial_x \boldsymbol{F}(x, \boldsymbol{u}) + \rho' \boldsymbol{H}', \qquad (4.4)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{J} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{L} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{L} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \boldsymbol{F}(x, \boldsymbol{u}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ u_1^3 + 3H(\cdot - \rho)u_1^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

with \mathcal{L} given by (1.13). Equation (4.4) is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{u}_1 = \partial_x u_2 + \rho' H', \\ \dot{u}_2 = \partial_x \mathcal{L} u_1 + \partial_x (u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2). \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

Notice that from (4.2) one has

$$\langle u_1, H' \rangle = 0 \implies \langle \dot{u}_1, H' \rangle = \rho' \langle u_1, H'' \rangle,$$

and from (4.5),

$$\langle \dot{u}_1, H' \rangle = -\langle u_2, H'' \rangle + \rho' ||H'||^2$$

$$\implies |\rho'| \lesssim |\langle u_2, H'' \rangle| \lesssim \left(\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|x-\rho|} u_2^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$

$$(4.6)$$

4.2. Weighted functions

In this section we recall all the necessary auxiliary results that will be needed in forthcoming sections. The notation is taken essentially from [45], with some particular choices from [68]. We start by describing the weighted functions used to define our local norms.

We consider a smooth even function $\chi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying

$$\chi = 1 \text{ on } [-1, 1], \quad \chi = 0 \text{ on } (-\infty, 2] \cup [2, \infty), \quad \chi' \le 0 \text{ on } [0, \infty).$$
 (4.7)

For any scale K > 0, we define the functions ζ_K and φ_K as

$$\zeta_K(x) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{K}(1-\chi(x))|x|\right),$$

$$\varphi_K(x) = \int_0^x \zeta_K^2(y) \, dy, \ x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.8)

We consider the function $\psi_{A,B}$ defined as

$$\psi_{A,B}(x) = \chi_A^2(x)\varphi_B(x), \text{ where } \chi_A(x) = \chi\left(\frac{x}{A}\right), x \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (4.9)

We recall that $\psi_{A,B}$ and φ_K are *odd functions*.

These functions will be used several times in arguments of virial type, and with different scales, A and B, under the following constraint:

$$1 \ll B \ll B^8 \ll A. \tag{4.10}$$

Basic set of technical estimates related to weighted functions. The following technical estimates on functions ζ_K and χ_A will be useful throughout this work. These estimates have been used in a similar context (for the proofs, see [42, 68]).

Lemma 4.1. Let ζ_K and χ be defined by (4.8) and (4.7), respectively. Then one has

$$\frac{\zeta'_K}{\zeta_K} = -\frac{1}{K} [-\chi'(x)|x| + (1 - \chi(x))\operatorname{sgn}(x)],$$
$$\frac{\zeta''_K}{\zeta_K} = \left(\frac{\zeta'_K}{\zeta_K}\right)^2 + \frac{1}{K} [\chi''(x)|x| + 2\chi'(x)\operatorname{sgn}(x)].$$

and

$$\frac{\zeta_K'''}{\zeta_K} = 3\frac{\zeta_K''}{\zeta_K}\frac{\zeta_K'}{\zeta_K} - 2\left(\frac{\zeta_K'}{\zeta_K}\right)^3 + \frac{1}{K}[\chi'''(x)|x| + 3\chi''(x)\operatorname{sgn}(x)],$$

$$\frac{\zeta_K^{(4)}}{\zeta_K} = 4\frac{\zeta_K'''}{\zeta_K}\frac{\zeta_K'}{\zeta_K} + 3\left(\frac{\zeta_K''}{\zeta_K}\right)^2 - 12\frac{\zeta_K''}{\zeta_K}\left(\frac{\zeta_K'}{\zeta_K}\right)^2 + 6\left(\frac{\zeta_K'}{\zeta_K}\right)^4 + \frac{1}{K}[\chi^{(4)}(x)|x| + 4\chi'''(x)\operatorname{sgn}(x)].$$

The previous identities are key through the paper. From the previous lemma we observe that for any K > 0 sufficiently large,

$$\left|\frac{\zeta_K''}{\zeta_K} - 2\left(\frac{\zeta_K'}{\zeta_K}\right)^2\right| \lesssim \frac{1}{K}.$$
(4.11)

Furthermore,

$$\left|\frac{\zeta'_K}{\zeta_K}\right| \lesssim K^{-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{|x|>1\}}(x), \quad \left|\frac{\zeta''_K}{\zeta_K}\right| \lesssim K^{-2} + K^{-1}\operatorname{sech}(x), \tag{4.12}$$

and

$$\left|\frac{\zeta_K'''}{\zeta_K}\right| \lesssim K^{-3} + K^{-1}\operatorname{sech}(x), \quad \left|\frac{\zeta_K^{(4)}}{\zeta_K}\right| \lesssim K^{-4} + K^{-1}\operatorname{sech}(x).$$

Then,

$$\left|\frac{\zeta_K''}{\zeta_K}\right| + \left|\frac{\zeta_K'''}{\zeta_K}\right| + \left|\frac{\zeta_K^{(4)}}{\zeta_K}\right| \lesssim K^{-1}.$$
(4.13)

In particular, for A large enough, the following estimate holds:

$$\left|\mathbf{1}_{\{A < |x| < 2A\}} \frac{\zeta_K^{(n)}}{\zeta_K}\right| \lesssim \frac{1}{K^n} \quad \text{for } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.14)

Now we will focus on χ_A . Considering that χ_A is a cut-off function at A scale, we notice the following relation between χ_A and ζ_A : for each function v,

$$\int \chi_A^2 v^2 \le \int_{|x| \le 2A} v^2 \le C \int_{|x| \le 2A} e^{-4|x|/A} v^2 \lesssim \int v^2 \zeta_A^4.$$
(4.15)

This estimate will be essential for the well-boundedness of some nonlinear terms in what follows (see Sections 5.6.1 and 5.6.2). Notice that this estimate will be used with the translated variable $y = x - \rho(t)$.

4.3. A first virial estimate

Following the ideas in [68], we set

$$\mathcal{I}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi_A(y) u_1(t, x) u_2(t, x) \, dx, \quad y = x - \rho(t), \tag{4.16}$$

and

$$w_i(t,x) = \zeta_A(y)u_i(t,x), \quad i = 1,2.$$
 (4.17)

Here, $\boldsymbol{w} = (w_1, w_2)$ represents a localized version of $\boldsymbol{u} = (u_1, u_2)$ at scale A. The following virial argument has been used in [42, 45, 68] in a similar context.

Proposition 4.2. There exist $C_1 > 0$ and $\delta_1 > 0$ such that for any $0 < \delta \le \delta_1$, the following holds. Fix

$$A = \delta^{-1}.\tag{4.18}$$

Assume that for all $t \ge 0$, (4.1) holds. Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int (w_2^2 + 3(\partial_x w_1)^2 + (V_0 - 4C_0\delta)w_1^2) + \int \varphi_A(3H + u_1)H'u_1^2 + C_0\delta|\rho'|^2 + \rho'\int \varphi_A H'u_2.$$
(4.19)

The proof of this result requires several computations. We start with a first identity.

Lemma 4.3. Let $(u_1, u_2) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \times L^2(\mathbb{R})$ be a solution of (4.5). Consider $\varphi_A = \varphi_A(y)$ a smooth bounded function to be chosen later. Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} = -\frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A' (u_2^2 + 3(\partial_x u_1)^2 + V_0 u_1^2) + \frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A''' u_1^2 -\frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A' u_1^3 (\frac{3}{2}u_1 + 4H) + \int \varphi_A u_1^2 H'(3H + u_1) -\rho' \int \varphi_A' u_1 u_2 + \rho' \int \varphi_A H' u_2.$$
(4.20)

Proof. Taking the derivative in (4.16) and using (4.5),

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} = \int \varphi_{A}(\dot{u_{1}}u_{2} + u_{1}\dot{u_{2}}) - \rho' \int \varphi'_{A}u_{1}u_{2}
= \int \varphi_{A}(\partial_{x}u_{2}u_{2} + \rho'H'u_{2} + u_{1}(\partial_{x}\mathcal{L}(u_{1}) + \partial_{x}(u_{1}^{3} + 3Hu_{1}^{2})))
= -\frac{1}{2}\int \varphi'_{A}u_{2}^{2} + \int \varphi_{A}u_{1}\partial_{x}\mathcal{L}(u_{1}) - \int \varphi_{A}u_{1}\partial_{x}(u_{1}^{3} + 3Hu_{1}^{2})
- \rho' \int \varphi'_{A}u_{1}u_{2} + \rho' \int \varphi_{A}H'u_{2}.$$
(4.21)

For the second integral on the right-hand side of the above equation, by (2.3) in Lemma 2.5, we have

$$\int \varphi_A u_1 \partial_x \mathcal{L}(u_1) = -\frac{1}{2} \int \varphi'_A [3(\partial_x u_1)^2 + V_0 u_1^2] + \frac{1}{2} \int \varphi_A V'_0 u_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \varphi'''_A u_1^2.$$

For the third integral on the right-hand side of (4.21), separating terms and integrating by parts we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int \varphi_A u_1 \partial_x (u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2) &= -\int \varphi_A \partial_x u_1 (u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2) - \int \varphi_A' (u_1^4 + 3Hu_1^3) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \int \varphi_A' u_1^4 + \int (\varphi_A' H + \varphi_A H') u_1^3 - \int \varphi_A' (u_1^4 + 3Hu_1^3) \\ &= -\frac{3}{4} \int \varphi_A' u_1^4 - 2 \int \varphi_A' H u_1^3 + \int \varphi_A H' u_1^3. \end{split}$$

Finally, by collecting, noticing that $V'_0 = 6HH'$ and regrouping terms, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} = -\frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A'(u_2^2 + 3(\partial_x u_1)^2 + V_0 u_1^2) + \frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A''' u_1^2 -\frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A' u_1^2 \left(\frac{3}{2}u_1^2 + 4Hu_1\right) + \int \varphi_A u_1^2 H'(3H + u_1) -\rho'\int \varphi_A' u_1 u_2 + \rho'\int \varphi_A H' u_2.$$

This concludes the proof of (4.20).

Proof of Proposition 4.2. Recalling that $\varphi'_A = \zeta_A^2$, we have in (4.20),

$$\int \varphi_A'(u_2^2 + V_0 u_1^2) = \int (w_2^2 + V_0 w_1^2).$$
(4.22)

Also,

$$\int \varphi_{A}'(\partial_{x}u_{1})^{2} = \int (\partial_{x}w_{1})^{2} + \int w_{1}^{2} \frac{\zeta_{A}''}{\zeta_{A}}.$$
(4.23)

Additionally,

$$\int \varphi_A''' u_1^2 = \int \frac{(\zeta_A^2)''}{\zeta_A^2} w_1^2 = 2 \int \left(\frac{\zeta_A''}{\zeta_A} + \frac{(\zeta_A')^2}{\zeta_A^2}\right) w_1^2.$$
(4.24)

Next, we deal with the nonlinear terms. Using that $w_1 = \zeta_A u_1$, we obtain

$$\int \varphi_A' \left(\frac{3}{2}u_1^4 + 4Hu_1^3\right) = \int w_1^2 \left(\frac{3}{2}u_1^2 + 4Hu_1\right).$$

Finally, gathering the previous computation and (4.22), (4.23) and (4.24), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} &= -\frac{1}{2}\int (w_2^2 + 3(\partial_x w_1)^2 + Vw_1^2) + \int \varphi_A u_1^2 H'(3H + u_1) \\ &- \rho' \int \varphi'_A u_1 u_2 + \rho' \int \varphi_A H' u_2, \end{aligned}$$

where (with variable x, y and t)

$$V = V_0 + \frac{\zeta_A''}{\zeta_A} - 2\frac{(\zeta_A')^2}{\zeta_A^2} + u_1 \Big(\frac{3}{2}u_1^2 + 4H\Big).$$
(4.25)

Now we consider the range of parameter $A \gg 1$. Then from (4.11) in (4.25) one has

$$V \ge V_0 - C(A^{-1} + \delta).$$

This last estimate follows from (4.11) and $||u_1||_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_0 \delta$.

Finally, consider the penultimate term in (4.20). Using (4.3) and (4.18) one gets $\delta = A^{-1}$, and $||u_2||_{L^2}$, $||u_1||_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_0 \delta$. Therefore,

$$\left|\rho'\int \varphi'_{A}u_{1}u_{2}\right| \lesssim |\rho'|\int |w_{1}\zeta_{A}u_{2}| \lesssim |\rho'| \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\zeta_{A}u_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \leq C_{0}\delta|\rho'| \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}.$$

Replacing this bound in (4.20), and using the Cauchy inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} &= -\frac{1}{2}\int (w_2^2 + 3(\partial_x w_1)^2 + Vw_1^2) + \frac{1}{2}\int \varphi_A u_1^2 (V_0' + 2H'u_1) \\ &\quad -\rho' \int \varphi_A' u_1 u_2 + \rho' \int \varphi_A H' u_2 \\ &\leq -\frac{1}{2}\int (w_2^2 + 3(\partial_x w_1)^2 + (V_0 - 4CA^{-1})w_1^2) + \int \varphi_A (3H + u_1)H'u_1^2 \\ &\quad + C_0 \delta |\rho'|^2 + \rho' \int \varphi_A H' u_2. \end{split}$$

This concludes the proof of (4.19).

5. Duality and second virial estimates

Following Martel [65], we consider the function $v_1 = \mathcal{L}u_1$ instead of u_1 to obtain a transformed problem with better virial properties. Unlike generalized KdV, in our case we have a system of unknowns and some care is needed with the dual transformation. In the case of the good-Boussinesq equation this was done in [68] with notable success. Since our original variables (u_1, u_2) belong to $H^1(\mathbb{R}) \times L^2(\mathbb{R})$, by using \mathcal{L} , the new variables are not well defined. Therefore, we need a regularization procedure, as in many other works [42, 45, 68].

5.1. The transformed problem

Let $\gamma > 0$ small, to be determined later. Set

$$\boldsymbol{v} = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \boldsymbol{L} \boldsymbol{u},$$

.

or equivalently,

$$\begin{cases} v_1 = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \mathcal{L} u_1, \\ v_2 = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} u_2. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

From system (4.5) we have $\boldsymbol{v} = (v_1, v_2) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \times H^2(\mathbb{R})$. Furthermore, from system (4.4), it follows that

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{L} \boldsymbol{J} \partial_x \boldsymbol{v} + (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \boldsymbol{F},$$

where

$$\widetilde{F} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma [V_0'' \partial_x v_2 + 2V_0' \partial_x^2 v_2] - \rho' V_0' u_1 \\ \partial_x [u_1^3 + 3H u_1^2] \end{pmatrix}$$

The above system is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} \dot{v}_1 = \mathcal{L}(\partial_x v_2) + G, \\ \dot{v}_2 = \partial_x v_1 + F, \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

where

$$F = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x [u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2],$$

$$G = \gamma (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} [V_0'' \partial_x v_2 + 2V_0' \partial_x^2 v_2] - \rho' (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} (V_0' u_1).$$
(5.3)

Now we compute a second virial estimate, this time on (v_1, v_2) .

5.2. Virial functional for the transformed problem

Recall that $y = x - \rho(t)$. Now set

$$\mathcal{J}(t) = \int \psi_{A,B}(y) v_1(t, x) v_2(t, x) \, dx,$$
(5.4)

with

$$\psi_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 \varphi_B,$$

 $z_i(t,x) = \chi_A(y) \zeta_B(y) v_i(t,x), \quad i = 1, 2.$
(5.5)

Here, $z = (z_1, z_2)$ represents a localized version of the variables $v = (v_1, v_2)$ at the scale *B*. This scale is intermediate, and \mathcal{J} involves a cut-off at scale *A*, which is needed to bound some bad error and nonlinear terms; see [45, 68] for a similar procedure.

Proposition 5.1. Under (4.1), (4.10) and (4.18), the following is satisfied. There exist $C_2 > 0$ and $\delta_2 > 0$ such that for any $0 < \delta \leq \delta_2$, the following holds. Fix

$$B = A^{1/10} = \delta^{-1/10}, \quad \gamma = B^{-4} = \delta^{2/5}.$$
 (5.6)

Then for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int (z_1^2 + (V_0 - C_2\delta^{1/10})z_2^2 + 2(\partial_x z_2)^2) + C_2\delta \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2
+ C_2\delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2\delta^{9/10} |\rho'|^2,$$
(5.7)

where V_0 is given by (1.13).

The rest of this section is devoted to the proof of this proposition, which has been divided into several subsections.

5.3. Change of variable

The following identities were proved in [68]; they are useful in the next subsection and in the proof of Claim 6.3.

Claim 5.2. Let $P \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, P = P(y), v_i be as in (5.1) and z_i be as in (5.5). Then

$$\int P\chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_i)^2 = \int P(\partial_x z_i)^2 + \int \left[P' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} + P \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} \right] z_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_1 \zeta_B^2 v_i^2, \quad (5.8)$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}(P) = P\left[\chi_{A}''\chi_{A} + (\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}}\right] + \frac{1}{2}P'(\chi_{A}^{2})',$$
(5.9)

and

$$|\mathcal{E}_1(P)| \lesssim A^{-1} \|P'\|_{L^{\infty}(A \le |y| \le 2A)} + (AB)^{-1} \|P\|_{L^{\infty}(A \le |y| \le 2A)}.$$
 (5.10)

Remark 5.1. For further purposes, we need the following easy consequences: for $P \equiv 1$, we get

$$\int \chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_i)^2 = \int (\partial_x z_i)^2 + \int \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} z_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_1 \zeta_B^2 v_i^2, \qquad (5.11)$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{1} = \mathcal{E}_{1}(1) = \chi_{A}'' \chi_{A} + (\chi_{A}^{2})' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}}.$$
(5.12)

Additionally, from (5.11), (4.12) and (5.10), one has the following estimate:

$$\|\chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x v_i\|^2 \lesssim \|\partial_x z_i\|_{L^2}^2 + B^{-1} \|z_i\|_{L^2}^2 + (AB)^{-1} \|\zeta_B v_i\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.13)

This estimate will be particularly useful later in the paper; see e.g. (6.41).

5.4. Proof of Proposition 5.1: First computations

Recall the definition of \mathcal{J} in (5.4). We have from (5.4) and (5.2),

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} &= \int \psi_{A,B} \Big[(\mathcal{L}\partial_x v_2) v_2 + \frac{1}{2} \partial_x (v_1^2) + F v_1 + G v_2 \Big] - \rho' \int \psi'_{A,B} v_1 v_2 \\ &= \int \psi_{A,B} (\mathcal{L}\partial_x v_2) v_2 - \frac{1}{2} \int \psi'_{A,B} v_1^2 + \int \psi_{A,B} [G v_2 + F v_1] - \rho' \int \psi'_{A,B} v_1 v_2. \end{aligned}$$

Applying (2.4) in Lemma 2.5, we obtain

$$\int \psi_{A,B}(\mathcal{L}\partial_x v_2)v_2 = -\frac{1}{2} \int \psi'_{A,B}(3(\partial_x v_2)^2 + V_0 v_2^2) + \frac{1}{2} \int \psi''_{A,B}v_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int \psi_{A,B}V'_0 v_2^2$$

Now, we consider the following decomposition

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} = -\frac{1}{2}\int\psi_{A,B}'(v_1^2 + V_0v_2^2 + 3(\partial_x v_2)^2) + \frac{1}{2}\int\psi_{A,B}''v_2^2 - \frac{1}{2}\int\psi_{A,B}V_0'v_2^2
+ \int\psi_{A,B}Gv_2 + \int\psi_{A,B}Fv_1 - \rho'\int\psi_{A,B}'v_1v_2
=: (J_1 + J_2 + J_3) + (J_4 + J_5 + J_6).$$
(5.14)

By the definition of $\psi_{A,B}$ (see (5.5)), it follows that

$$\psi'_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 + (\chi_A^2)' \varphi_B,$$

$$\psi''_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 (\zeta_B^2)'' + 3(\chi_A^2)' (\zeta_B^2)' + 3(\chi_A^2)'' \zeta_B^2 + (\chi_A^2)''' \varphi_B.$$
(5.15)

Also, by the definition of $z = (z_1, z_2)$ in (5.5), we have

$$-2J_1 = \int \psi'_{A,B}(v_1^2 + V_0 v_2^2 + 3(\partial_x v_2)^2)$$

= $\int (z_1^2 + V_0 z_2^2) + \int (\chi_A^2)' \varphi_B(v_1^2 + V_0 v_2^2 + 3(\partial_x v_2)^2) + 3 \int \chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_2)^2.$

For the last term of the above equation, applying Remark 5.1, we obtain

$$\int \chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_2)^2 = \int (\partial_x z_2)^2 + \int \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} z_2^2 + \int \left[\chi_A'' + 2\chi_A' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} \right] \chi_A \zeta_B^2 v_2^2.$$

Then, for J_1 in (5.14), we obtain

$$J_{1} = -\frac{1}{2} \int (z_{1}^{2} + 3(\partial_{x}z_{2})^{2} + V_{0}z_{2}^{2}) - \frac{3}{2} \int \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} z_{2}^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \int \left[\chi_{A}'' + 2\chi_{A}' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} \right] \chi_{A} \zeta_{B}^{2} v_{2}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int (\chi_{A}^{2})' \varphi_{B} (v_{1}^{2} + V_{0}v_{2}^{2} + 3(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2}).$$
(5.16)

Now we turn to J_2 . By (5.15), J_2 in (5.14) satisfies the decomposition

$$J_{2} = \frac{1}{2} \int \left(\chi_{A}^{2} (\zeta_{B}^{2})'' + 3(\chi_{A}^{2})'(\zeta_{B}^{2})' + 3(\chi_{A}^{2})''\zeta_{B}^{2} + (\chi_{A}^{2})'''\varphi_{B} \right) v_{2}^{2}$$

=
$$\int \left[\left(\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} \right)^{2} + \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} \right] z_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int \left(3(\chi_{A}^{2})'(\zeta_{B}^{2})' + 3(\chi_{A}^{2})''\zeta_{B}^{2} + (\chi_{A}^{2})'''\varphi_{B} \right) v_{2}^{2}. \quad (5.17)$$

As for J_3 in (5.14), using the definition of z_2 in (5.5) we obtain

$$J_3 = -\frac{1}{2} \int \psi_{A,B} V_0' v_2^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\varphi_B}{\zeta_B^2} V_0' z_2^2.$$
(5.18)

Finally, gathering (5.16), (5.17) and (5.18), we obtain that the first part in (5.14) can be written as

$$J_1 + J_2 + J_3 = -\frac{1}{2} \int [z_1^2 + V z_2^2 + 3(\partial_x z_2)^2] + \tilde{J}_1,$$

where

$$V = V_0 + \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} - 2\frac{(\zeta_B')^2}{\zeta_B^2} + V_0'\frac{\varphi_B}{\zeta_B^2},$$
(5.19)

and the error term is given by

$$\tilde{J}_{1} = -\frac{1}{2} \int \left[3(\chi_{A}''\chi_{A} - (\chi_{A}^{2})'')\zeta_{B}^{2} - \frac{3}{2}(\chi_{A}^{2})'(\zeta_{B}^{2})' + ((\chi_{A}^{2})'V_{0} - (\chi_{A}^{2})''')\varphi_{B} \right] v_{2}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'\varphi_{B}v_{1}^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'\varphi_{B}(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2}.$$
(5.20)

In order to control the main part of the virial term, a lower bound for the potential V is necessary. We have the following result:

Lemma 5.3. There are C > 0 and $B_0 > 0$ such that for all $B \ge B_0$, one has

$$V \ge V_0 - CB^{-1}$$
, where $V_0 = -1 + 3H^2$

Proof. First, noticing that $V'_0 = 6HH' > 0$ for y > 0 and using that for $y \in [0, \infty) \mapsto \zeta_B(y)$ is a nonincreasing function, we have for y > 0,

$$\frac{\varphi_B}{\zeta_B^2} = \frac{\int_0^y \zeta_B^2}{\zeta_B^2} \ge y > 0.$$

Then, from this estimate, (5.19) and (4.11) with K = B,

$$V(y) \ge V_0(y) - CB^{-1} + |V'_0(y)y| \ge V_0(y) - CB^{-1}$$

The case $y \leq 0$ is similar. These estimates hold for any $y \in \mathbb{R}$. This concludes the proof.

First conclusion. Using this lemma, and \tilde{J}_1 in (5.20), we conclude that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int [z_1^2 + (V_0 - CB^{-1})z_2^2 + 3(\partial_x z_2)^2] + \tilde{J}_1 + J_4 + J_5 + J_6, \quad (5.21)$$

where J_4 and J_5 are related to the nonlinear term in (5.14) and J_6 is related to the shift considered on the kink. To control the terms \tilde{J}_1 , J_4 , J_5 and J_6 , and the terms that will appear in the sections below, some technical estimates will be needed.

5.5. First technical estimates

The following estimates have been used to establish asymptotic stability for the good-Boussinesq equation, as well as the 1 + 1 scalar fields equation (see [45, 68] for proof). For $\gamma > 0$, let $(1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1}$ be the bounded operator from L^2 to H^2 defined by its Fourier transform as

$$\mathcal{F}((1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}g)(\xi) = \frac{\hat{g}(\xi)}{1+\gamma\xi^2}, \quad \text{for any } g \in L^2.$$

We start with a basic but essential result, in the spirit of [45].

Lemma 5.4. Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R})$ and $0 < \gamma < 1$ fixed. We have the following estimates:

- (i) $\|(1 \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} \le \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})},$
- (ii) $\|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\partial_x f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} \leq \gamma^{-1/2} \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})},$
- (iii) $\|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}f\|_{H^2(\mathbb{R})} \le \gamma^{-1}\|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R})}.$

We also enunciate the following results that appear in [42, 45, 68]. Notice that now the variable in the weights is $y = x - \rho(t)$, but the shift does not affect the final outcome.

Lemma 5.5. There exist $\gamma_1 > 0$ and C > 0 such that for any $\gamma \in (0, \gamma_1)$, $0 < K \le 1$ and $g \in L^2$, the following estimates hold:

$$\|\operatorname{sech}(Ky)(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}g\|_{L^2} \le C \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}[\operatorname{sech}(Ky)g]\|_{L^2}, \quad (5.22)$$

$$\|\cosh(Ky)(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}[\operatorname{sech}(Ky)g]\|_{L^2} \le C \,\|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}g\|_{L^2},\tag{5.23}$$

$$\|\operatorname{sech}(Ky)(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\partial_x g\|_{L^2} \le C\gamma^{-1/2}\|\operatorname{sech}(Ky)g\|_{L^2},$$
(5.24)

and

$$\|\operatorname{sech}(Ky)(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}(1-\partial_x^2)g\|_{L^2} \le C\gamma^{-1}\|\operatorname{sech}(Ky)g\|_{L^2},$$
(5.25)

where the explicit constant C is independent of γ and K.

The following results are also contained in [68], and are essentially obtained from Lemma 5.4.

Lemma 5.6. Recall v_i , w_i and z_i , i = 1, 2 defined in (5.1), (4.17) and (5.5), respectively. Then one has

(a) estimates on v_1 and u_1 :

$$\|v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \gamma^{-1} \|u_1\|_{L^2},$$

$$\|\partial_x v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \gamma^{-1/2} \|u_1\|_{L^2} + \gamma^{-1} \|\partial_x u_1\|_{L^2}.$$
(5.26)

(b) estimates on v_2 and u_2 :

$$\|v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|u_2\|_{L^2}, \quad \|\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \gamma^{-1/2} \|u_2\|_{L^2}, \\ \|\partial_x^2 v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \gamma^{-1} \|u_2\|_{L^2}.$$

$$(5.27)$$

Lemma 5.7. Let $1 \le K \le A$ fixed. Then

(a) estimates on v_1 and w_1 :

$$\|\xi_{K}v_{1}\| \lesssim \gamma^{-1} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}},$$

$$\|\xi_{K}\partial_{x}v_{1}\| \lesssim \gamma^{-1} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}).$$

(5.28)

(b) estimates on v_2 and w_2 :

$$\begin{aligned} \|\xi_{K}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} &\lesssim \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}, \quad \|\xi_{K}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \gamma^{-1/2}\|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}, \\ \|\xi_{K}\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \gamma^{-1}\|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.29)

(c) estimates on u_1 and w_1 :

$$\left\|\operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{y}{K}\right)u_{1}\right\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}},$$

$$\left\|\operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{y}{K}\right)\partial_{x}u_{1}\right\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(5.30)

(d) estimates on u_2 and w_2 :

$$\left\|\operatorname{sech}\left(\frac{y}{K}\right)u_2\right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|w_2\|_{L^2}.$$
(5.31)

For the purposes of this work, we also include a refined version of Lemma 5.7 (a).

Lemma 5.8. Let $1 \le K \le A$ fixed. Then

$$\|(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}\mathcal{L}f\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\partial_{x}f\|_{L^{2}}, \|\zeta_{K}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \left(1+\frac{1}{K\gamma^{1/2}}\right) \|\zeta_{K}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\zeta_{K}\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(5.32)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\mathcal{L}f\|_{L^2} &= \left\|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\left[(2-\partial_x^2)f - 3\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{2}}\right)f\right]\right\|_{L^2} \\ &\lesssim \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}(2-\partial_x^2)f\|_{L^2} + \left\|\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\cdot-\rho}{\sqrt{2}}\right)f\right\|_{L^2} \\ &\lesssim \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}(2-\partial_x^2)f\|_{L^2} + \|f\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Focus on the first term on the right-hand side. Using Plancherel's theorem, we get

$$\begin{split} \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}(2-\partial_x^2)f\|_{L^2} &= \left\|\frac{(2+\xi^2)}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\hat{f}\right\|_{L^2} \\ &= \left\|\left(\frac{(2+\xi^2)}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]} + \frac{(2+\xi^2)}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]^c}\right)\hat{f}\right\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{3}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]}\hat{f}\right\|_{L^2} + \left\|\frac{3\operatorname{sgn}(\xi)|\xi|}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]^c}\xi\hat{f}\right\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \left\|\frac{3}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]}\hat{f}\right\|_{L^2} \\ &+ \left\|3\gamma^{-1/2}\frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\xi)\sqrt{1+\gamma|\xi|^2}}{(1+\gamma\xi^2)}\mathbf{1}_{[-1,1]^c}\xi\hat{f}\right\|_{L^2} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{L^2} + \gamma^{-1/2}\|\partial_x f\|_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

This concludes the proof of the first estimate in (5.32).

For the second inequality, by (5.22) and using that $\zeta_K \mathcal{L}(u_1) = \mathcal{L}(\zeta_K u_1) + 2\zeta'_K \partial_x u_1 + \zeta''_K u_1$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\zeta_{K}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} &\lesssim \|(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}(\zeta_{K}\mathcal{L}u_{1})\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \|(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}(\mathcal{L}(\zeta_{K}u_{1})+2\zeta_{K}'\partial_{x}u_{1}+\zeta_{K}''u_{1})\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \|(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}\mathcal{L}(\zeta_{K}u_{1})\|_{L^{2}} + \|2\zeta_{K}'\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\zeta_{K}''u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, from the first identity in (5.32), (4.12) and (4.13),

$$\begin{split} \|\zeta_{K}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} &\lesssim \|\zeta_{K}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\partial_{x}(\zeta_{K}u_{1})\|_{L^{2}} + \|\zeta_{K}'\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\zeta_{K}''u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \left(1 + \frac{1}{K\gamma^{1/2}}\right) \|\zeta_{K}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \left(\gamma^{-1/2} + \frac{1}{K}\right) \|\zeta_{K}\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \left(1 + \frac{1}{K\gamma^{1/2}}\right) \|\zeta_{K}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\zeta_{K}\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}. \end{split}$$

This ends the proof.

Remark 5.2. Using (4.23), for $K \in [1, A]$, and $\zeta_A \partial_X u_1 = \partial_X w_1 - \frac{\zeta'_A}{\zeta_A} w_1$, we obtain

$$\int \zeta_K^2 (\partial_x u_1)^2 = \int \frac{\zeta_K}{\zeta_A^2} (\partial_x w_1)^2 + \int w_1^2 \left(\frac{\zeta_K}{\zeta_A^2} \frac{\zeta_A}{\zeta_A} + 2 \frac{\zeta_K}{\zeta_A} \frac{\zeta_A}{\zeta_A} \left(\frac{\zeta_K}{\zeta_A} - \frac{\zeta_K}{\zeta_A} \frac{\zeta_A}{\zeta_A} \right) \right).$$

Hence, a crude estimate gives

$$\|\zeta_K \partial_x u_1\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + A^{-1} \|w_1\|_{L^2}^2.$$

Taking K = A we obtain

$$\|\xi_A \partial_x u_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2} + A^{-1/2} \|w_1\|_{L^2},$$
(5.33)

and from (5.32) and K = A,

$$\|\xi_A v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left(1 + \frac{1}{(A\gamma)^{1/2}}\right) \|w_1\|_{L^2} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}.$$

Finally, using (5.6), $A\gamma = \delta^{-1+2/5} \gg 1$, and

$$\|\xi_A v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|w_1\|_{L^2} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}.$$
(5.34)

5.6. Controlling error and nonlinear terms

By the definition of ζ_B and χ_A in (4.8) and (4.9), it holds that

$$\zeta_{B}(y) \lesssim e^{-\frac{|y|}{B}}, \quad |\zeta_{B}'(y)| \lesssim \frac{1}{B}e^{-\frac{|y|}{B}}, \quad |\varphi_{B}| \lesssim B,$$

$$|\chi_{A}'| \lesssim A^{-1}, \quad |(\chi_{A}^{2})'| \lesssim A^{-1}, \quad |(\chi_{A}^{2})''| \lesssim A^{-2}, \quad |(\chi_{A}^{2})'''| \lesssim A^{-3}.$$

(5.35)

5.6.1. Control of \tilde{J}_1 . Considering the following decomposition for \tilde{J}_1 :

$$\begin{split} \tilde{J}_1 &= -\frac{1}{2} \int (\chi_A^2)' \varphi_B(v_1^2 + 3(\partial_x v_2)^2) - \frac{1}{2} \int ((\chi_A^2)' V_0 - (\chi_A^2)''') \varphi_B v_2^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int \left[3(\chi_A'' \chi_A - (\chi_A^2)'') - 3(\chi_A^2)' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} \right] \zeta_B^2 v_2^2 \\ &=: H_1 + H_2 + H_3. \end{split}$$

In the case of H_1 and H_2 , using $|(\chi_A^2)'\varphi_B| \lesssim A^{-1}B$ and (4.15), we obtain

$$|H_1| \lesssim A^{-1}B(\|v_1\|_{L^2(|y| \le 2A)}^2 + \|\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2(|y| \le 2A)}^2)$$

$$\lesssim A^{-1}B(\|\zeta_A^2 v_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\zeta_A^2 \partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}^2),$$

and

$$|H_2| \lesssim A^{-1}B \|v_2\|_{L^2(A \le |y| \le 2A)}^2 \lesssim A^{-1}B \|v_2\|_{L^2(|y| \le 2A)}^2 \lesssim A^{-1}B \|\zeta_A^2 v_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$

Finally, in the case of H_3 , using (5.35), we have

$$|H_3| \lesssim (AB)^{-1} \|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2(|y| \le 2A)}^2 \lesssim (AB)^{-1} \|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2}^2$$

We obtain, using that $\zeta_B \lesssim \zeta_A$,

$$|\tilde{J}_1| \lesssim A^{-1}B(\|\xi_A v_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\zeta_A v_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\zeta_A \partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$

Applying (5.34) and (5.29) with K = A, and finally using (5.6), we get

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{J}_{1}| &\lesssim A^{-1}B(\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \gamma^{-1}\|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \gamma^{-1}\|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) \\ &\lesssim A^{-1}B\gamma^{-1}(\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) \\ &\lesssim \delta^{1/2}(\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}). \end{split}$$
(5.36)

5.6.2. Control of J_4 . Using the value of G in (5.3), J_4 is bounded as follows:

$$J_{4} = \gamma \int \psi_{A,B} v_{2} (1 - \gamma \partial_{x}^{2})^{-1} [2 \partial_{x} (V_{0}' \partial_{x} v_{2}) - V_{0}'' \partial_{x} v_{2}] - \rho' \int \psi_{A,B} v_{2} (1 - \gamma \partial_{x}^{2})^{-1} (V_{0}' u_{1}) =: J_{41} + J_{42}.$$
(5.37)

Bound on J₄₁. Using the Hölder inequality,

$$|J_{41}| \lesssim \gamma \|\psi_{A,B} v_2\|_{L^2} \|(1-\gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} [2\partial_x (V'_0 \partial_x v_2) - V''_0 \partial_x v_2]\|_{L^2}.$$

Using $\psi_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 \varphi_B$ in (5.5), and (4.15), one can see that

$$\|\psi_{A,B}v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim B\|\chi_A v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim B\|v_2\|_{L^2(|y|<2A)} \lesssim B\|\zeta_A^2 v_2\|_{L^2}.$$
 (5.38)

On the other hand, using Lemma 5.4,

$$\|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}[2\partial_x(V_0'\partial_xv_2)-V_0''\partial_xv_2]\|_{L^2} \lesssim \gamma^{-1/2}\|V_0'\partial_xv_2\|_{L^2} + \|V_0''\partial_xv_2\|_{L^2}.$$

Recall that $|V_0'|, |V_0''| \sim \operatorname{sech}^2(y/\sqrt{2}) \lesssim e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|}$. Therefore, we are led to the estimate

$$\|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|}\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}.$$

First of all, write

$$e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|}\partial_x v_2 = (e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\zeta_B^{-1})e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\zeta_B(1-\chi_A)\partial_x v_2 + (e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\zeta_B^{-1})e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\chi_A\zeta_B\partial_x v_2.$$

Noticing that since $e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\zeta_B^{-1} \lesssim 1$,

$$\|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\zeta_{B}(1-\chi_{A})\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\zeta_{B}\chi_{A}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}$$
$$\lesssim e^{-\sqrt{2}A/2}\|\zeta_{B}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\chi_{A}\zeta_{B}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(5.39)

Using (5.8) and (5.10) with $P = e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}$ we get

$$\|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|/2}\chi_A\zeta_B\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2}\|z_2\|_{L^2} + \frac{1}{A^{1/2}}e^{-\sqrt{2}A/4}\|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2}.$$

Coming back to the bound on $||e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|}\partial_x v_2||_{L^2}$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|}\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} &\leq e^{-\sqrt{2}A/2} \|\zeta_B \partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2} \|z_2\|_{L^2} \\ &+ (Ae^{\sqrt{2}A/2})^{-1/2} \|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

The previous inequality allows us to conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}[2\partial_x(V'_0\partial_x v_2) - V''_0\partial_x v_2]\|_{L^2} \\ \lesssim \gamma^{-1/2}(\|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2}\|z_2\|_{L^2}) \\ + e^{-A/4}\gamma^{-1/2}(\|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2} + \|\zeta_B\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}). \end{aligned}$$
(5.40)

Gathering (5.38) and this last estimate, we conclude first that

$$|J_{41}| \lesssim \gamma^{1/2} B \| \zeta_A^2 v_2 \|_{L^2} \big(\| \partial_x z_2 \|_{L^2} + \| z_2 \|_{L^2} + e^{-A/4} (\| \zeta_B v_2 \|_{L^2} + \| \zeta_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2}) \big).$$

Using (5.29) with K = A, B, the Cauchy inequality and (5.6), we obtain $e^{-A/4}\gamma^{-1/2} \ll 1$ and

$$\begin{aligned} |J_{41}| &\lesssim \gamma^{1/2} B \|w_2\|_{L^2} (\|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + \|z_2\|_{L^2} + e^{-A/2} \gamma^{-1/2} \|w_2\|_{L^2}) \\ &\lesssim \gamma^{1/2} B (\|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2). \end{aligned}$$

We conclude that $\gamma^{1/2}B = B^{-1} = \delta^{1/10}$ and

$$|J_{41}| \lesssim \delta^{1/10} [\|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2].$$
(5.41)

Bound on J_{42} **.** Now we focus on J_{42} in (5.37). By the Hölder inequality, we get

$$|J_{42}| = |\rho'| \left| \int \psi_{A,B} v_2 (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} (V_0' u_1) \right|$$

$$\lesssim |\rho'| \| \chi_A \varphi_B v_2 \|_{L^2} \| \chi_A (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} (V_0' u_1) \|_{L^2}.$$

Now, using (5.27) and $|\chi_A \varphi_B| \lesssim B$, and (4.3),

$$\|\chi_A \varphi_B v_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim B \|u_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim B\delta.$$

Additionally, from Lemma 5.4, the fact that

$$|V_0'\zeta_A^{-1}| = 6|\zeta_A^{-1}H'(y)H(y)| \lesssim 1$$

and (4.17), we obtain

$$\|\chi_A(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}(V_0'u_1)\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\zeta_A u_1\|_{L^2} = \|w_1\|_{L^2}.$$

Since $\delta B = \delta^{9/10}$, we conclude

$$|J_{42}| \lesssim \delta B |\rho'| ||w_1||_{L^2} \lesssim \delta^{9/10} (|\rho'|^2 + ||w_1||_{L^2}^2).$$
(5.42)

Gathering (5.41) and (5.42), we finally arrive at the estimate

$$|J_4| \lesssim \delta^{1/10}[\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2] + \delta^{9/10}\rho'^2.$$
(5.43)

5.6.3. Control of J_5 **.** Recalling that $\psi_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 \varphi_B$, using the Hölder inequality and Remark 4.15, we get

$$|J_{5}| = \left| \int \psi_{A,B} F v_{1} \right| \lesssim \|\chi_{A} \varphi_{B} v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\chi_{A} F\|_{L^{2}}$$
$$\lesssim \|\chi_{A} \varphi_{B} v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\zeta_{A}^{2} (1 - \gamma \partial_{x}^{2})^{-1} \partial_{x} [u_{1}^{3} + 3Hu_{1}^{2}]\|_{L^{2}}.$$

First of all, since $|\varphi_B| \lesssim B$, we have

$$\|\chi_A \varphi_B v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim B \|\chi_A v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim B \|v_1\|_{L^2(|y|<2A)} \lesssim B \|\zeta_A^2 v_1\|_{L^2}.$$
(5.44)

Furthermore, using (5.22) and Lemma 5.4, we have

$$\|\zeta_A^2(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\partial_x[u_1^3+3Hu_1^2]\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\zeta_A^2\partial_x[u_1^3+3Hu_1^2]\|_{L^2},$$

and expanding the above term, one gets

$$\begin{aligned} \|\xi_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}[u_{1}^{3}+3Hu_{1}^{2}]\|_{L^{2}} &= \|\xi_{A}^{2}[3u_{1}^{2}\partial_{x}u_{1}+3H'u_{1}^{2}+6Hu_{1}\partial_{x}u_{1}]\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \|u_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}\|\xi_{A}^{2}[3u_{1}\partial_{x}u_{1}+3H'u_{1}+6H\partial_{x}u_{1}]\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \|u_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}[\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}\|\zeta_{A}\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}+\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}+\|\zeta_{A}\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}] \\ &\lesssim \|u_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}[\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}+\|\zeta_{A}\partial_{x}u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}]. \end{aligned}$$
(5.45)

Finally, by (5.45), (5.44) and (5.34), we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} |J_{5}| &\lesssim B \|u_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\xi_{A}^{2} v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\xi_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}] \\ &\lesssim B \delta[\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}] [\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\xi_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}] \\ &\lesssim \delta^{7/10} [\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.46)$$

In the last inequality we have used (5.30) combined with (5.35), and also $B\delta\gamma^{-1/2} = \delta^{1-1/10-2/10} = \delta^{7/10}$.

5.6.4. Control of J_6 in (5.14). Replacing $\psi'_{A,B}$ from (5.15), we have

$$|J_6| = \left| \rho' \int \psi'_{A,B} v_1 v_2 \right|$$

$$\leq |\rho'| \left| \int (\chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 + 2\chi'_A \chi_A \varphi_B) v_1 v_2 \right|$$

$$= \rho' \int z_1 \chi_A \zeta_B v_2 + 2\rho' \int \chi'_A \chi_A \varphi_B v_1 v_2 =: J_{6,1} + J_{6,2}$$

Bound on $J_{6,1}$. Applying the Hölder inequality, estimate (5.27) and (4.3), we get

$$|J_{6,1}| \leq |\rho'| \|z_1\|_{L^2} \|u_2\|_{L^2} \leq C_0 \delta |\rho'| \|z_1\|_{L^2}.$$

Bound on $J_{6,2}$. Here, after invoking (5.35) and the Hölder inequality, we get

$$|J_{6,2}| \lesssim A^{-1}B|\rho'| \|\chi_A v_1\|_{L^2} \|v_2\|_{L^2}.$$

Using (5.1), Lemma 5.4 and (4.3), we easily have $||v_2||_{L^2} \leq ||u_2||_{L^2} \leq \delta$. From (4.15), we also get

$$\|\chi_A v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\zeta_A^2 v_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\zeta_A v_1\|_{L^2}.$$

Hence, by (5.34),

$$|J_{6,2}| \lesssim \delta A^{-1} B |\rho'| (||w_1||_{L^2} + \gamma^{-1/2} ||\partial_x w_1||_{L^2}).$$

Since $A^{-1}B\gamma^{-1/2} = \delta^{7/10}$, after applying the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality we conclude that

$$|J_{6}| \lesssim \delta A^{-1} B |\rho'| (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1/2} \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}) + C \delta |\rho'| \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{17/10} |\rho'| (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}) + C \delta |\rho'| \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{17/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + C \delta \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + C \delta |\rho'|^{2}.$$
(5.47)

5.7. End of proof of Proposition 5.1

From (5.36), (5.43), (5.46) and (5.47), we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{J}_{1} + J_{4} + J_{5} + J_{6}| \\ \lesssim \delta^{1/2} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + \delta^{7/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) \\ &+ \delta^{17/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + \delta^{1/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) \\ &+ \delta^{1/10} (\|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + \delta\|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \delta^{9/10}\rho'^{2} + \delta\rho'^{2}. \end{split}$$

Finally, simplifying, we obtain that (5.48) is bounded as

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{J}_1 + J_4 + J_5 + J_6| \lesssim \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2) \\ + \delta \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{9/10} |\rho'|^2. \end{split}$$
(5.48)

Finally, the virial estimate is concluded as follows: for some $C_2 > 0$ independent of δ small, (5.21) becomes

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int [z_1^2 + (V_0 - C_2\delta^{1/10})z_2^2 + 2(\partial_x z_2)^2] + C_2\delta \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + C_2\delta^{1/10}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2\delta^{9/10}|\rho'|^2.$$

This ends the proof of (5.7) and Proposition 5.1.

6. Gain of regularity

We will focus now on a new virial estimate obtained from the new system of equations involving the variables

$$\tilde{v}_i = \partial_x v_i, \quad i = 1, 2. \tag{6.1}$$

Formally taking derivatives in (5.2), we have

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\tilde{v}}_1 = \partial_x \mathcal{L} \tilde{v}_2 + \tilde{G}, & \tilde{G} = \partial_x G, \\ \dot{\tilde{v}}_2 = \partial_x \tilde{v}_1 + \tilde{F}, & \tilde{F} = \partial_x F, \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

where G and F are given in (5.3) and \tilde{v}_i given in (6.1). For this new system, we consider the virial functional

$$\mathcal{M}(t) = \int \phi_{A,B}(y) \tilde{v}_1(t,x) \tilde{v}_2(t,x) \, dx = \int \phi_{A,B}(y) \partial_x v_1(t,x) \partial_x v_2(t,x) \, dx.$$
(6.3)

Later we will choose $\phi_{A,B} = \psi_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 \varphi_B$ (see (5.5)).

6.1. A virial estimate related to M

Lemma 6.1. Let $(v_1, v_2) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \times H^2(\mathbb{R})$ be a solution of (5.2). Consider $\phi_{A,B}$ an odd smooth bounded function to be chosen later. Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} = -\frac{1}{2}\int \phi'_{A,B}[(\partial_x v_1)^2 + V_0(\partial_x v_2)^2 + 3(\partial_x^2 v_2)^2] + \frac{1}{2}\int \phi'''_{A,B}(\partial_x v_2)^2
+ \frac{1}{2}\int \phi_{A,B}V'_0(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int \phi_{A,B}[\partial_x G\partial_x v_2 + \tilde{F}\partial_x v_1]
- \rho'\int \phi'_{A,B}\partial_x v_1\partial_x v_2.$$
(6.4)

Proof of Lemma 6.1. We compute from (6.3),

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} = \int \phi_{A,B} \dot{\tilde{v}}_1 \tilde{v}_2 + \int \phi_{A,B} \tilde{v}_1 \dot{\tilde{v}}_2 - \rho' \int \phi'_{A,B} \tilde{v}_1 \tilde{v}_2$$

From (6.2) and (2.3), we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} &= \int \phi_{A,B} (\partial_x \mathcal{L}\tilde{v}_2 + \tilde{G})\tilde{v}_2 + \int \phi_{A,B}\tilde{v}_1 (\partial_x \tilde{v}_1 + \tilde{F}) - \rho' \int \phi'_{A,B} \partial_x v_1 \partial_x v_2 \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \phi'_{A,B} [\tilde{v}_1^2 + V_0 \tilde{v}_2^2 + 3(\partial_x \tilde{v}_2)^2] + \frac{1}{2} \int \phi'''_{A,B} \tilde{v}_2^2 \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} \int \phi_{A,B} V'_0 \tilde{v}_2^2 + \int \phi_{A,B} [\tilde{G}\tilde{v}_2 + \tilde{F}\tilde{v}_1] - \rho' \int \phi'_{A,B} \partial_x v_1 \partial_x v_2. \end{split}$$

Rewriting the above identity in terms of the variables (v_1, v_2) and using the definition of \tilde{G} , we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} = -\frac{1}{2}\int \phi'_{A,B}[(\partial_x v_1)^2 + V_0(\partial_x v_2)^2 + 3(\partial_x^2 v_2)^2] + \frac{1}{2}\int \phi'''_{A,B}(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\int \phi_{A,B}V'_0(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int \phi_{A,B}[\partial_x G \partial_x v_2 + \tilde{F} \partial_x v_1] - \rho' \int \phi'_{A,B}\partial_x v_1 \partial_x v_2.$$

This ends the proof of Lemma 6.1.

The following proposition connects two virial identities in the variables (z_1, z_2) . Finally, let z_i , i = 1, 2 be as in (5.5).

Proposition 6.2. There exist $C_3 > 0$ and $\delta_3 > 0$ such that for any $0 < \delta \le \delta_3$, the following holds. Assume that for all $t \ge 0$, (4.1) and (5.6) hold. Then for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int [(\partial_x z_1)^2 + 2(\partial_x^2 z_2)^2] + C_3(\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_3\delta^{1/10}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_3\delta^{7/10}|\rho'|^2.$$
(6.5)

The proof of the above result requires some technical estimates. We first state them, and then prove Proposition 6.2 (Section 6.3).

6.2. Second set of technical estimates

Recall the following technical estimates on the variables ζ_B and other related error terms. These estimates have been proved and used in [68]; therefore we only enunciate the main results.

Claim 6.3. Let R be a $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ function, R = R(y), v_i be as in (5.1) and z_i be as in (5.5). Then

$$\begin{split} \int R\chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x^2 v_i)^2 &= \int R(\partial_x^2 z_i)^2 + \int \tilde{R} z_i^2 + \int P_R (\partial_x z_i)^2 \\ &+ \int \left[P_R' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} + P_R \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} \right] z_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_2 \zeta_B^2 v_i^2 \\ &+ \int \mathcal{E}_1 (P_R) \zeta_B^2 v_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_3 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_i)^2, \end{split}$$

where

$$\tilde{R} = \tilde{R}_R = -2R \left[\frac{\zeta_B^{(4)}}{\zeta_B} + \frac{\zeta_B^{'''}}{\zeta_B} \frac{\zeta_B^{'}}{\zeta_B} \right] - 2R' \frac{\zeta_B^{'''}}{\zeta_B} - R'' \frac{\zeta_B^{''}}{\zeta_B}, \tag{6.6}$$

$$P_R = R \left[4 \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} - 2 \left(\frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} \right)^2 \right] + 2R' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B}, \tag{6.7}$$

 \mathcal{E}_1 is defined in (5.9),

$$\mathcal{E}_{2} = \mathcal{E}_{2}(R) = -R\left(\chi_{A}^{(4)}\chi_{A} + 4\chi_{A}^{'''}\chi_{A}\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} + 6\chi_{A}^{''}\chi_{A}\frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} + 2(\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\zeta_{B}^{'''}}{\zeta_{B}}\right) - R'\left(2\chi_{A}^{'''}\chi_{A} + 6\chi_{A}^{''}\chi_{A}\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} + 6\chi_{A}'\chi_{A}\frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}}\right) - R''\left(\chi_{A}''\chi_{A} + \frac{1}{2}(\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}}\right)$$
(6.8)

and

$$\mathcal{E}_{3} = \mathcal{E}_{3}(R) = R \bigg[4\chi_{A}''\chi_{A} - 2(\chi_{A}')^{2} + 2\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}}(\chi_{A}^{2})' \bigg] + R'(\chi_{A}^{2})'.$$
(6.9)

Finally, P_R , \mathcal{E}_2 and \mathcal{E}_3 satisfy the bounds

$$\begin{split} |P_{R}| &\lesssim B^{-1} \|R'\|_{L^{\infty}} + B^{-1} \|R\|_{L^{\infty}}, \\ |P_{R}'| &\lesssim B^{-1} \|R''\|_{L^{\infty}} + B^{-1} \|R'\|_{L^{\infty}} + B^{-1} \|R\|_{L^{\infty}}, \\ |\mathcal{E}_{2}| &\lesssim (AB)^{-1} \|R''\|_{L^{\infty}(A \leq |y| \leq 2A)} + (AB^{2})^{-1} \|R'\|_{L^{\infty}(A \leq |y| \leq 2A)} \\ &+ (AB^{3})^{-1} \|R\|_{L^{\infty}(A \leq |y| \leq 2A)}, \\ |\mathcal{E}_{3}| &\lesssim A^{-1} \|R'\|_{L^{\infty}(A \leq |y| \leq 2A)} + (AB)^{-1} \|R\|_{L^{\infty}(A \leq |y| \leq 2A)}. \end{split}$$
(6.10)

Remark 6.1. Estimates (6.10) are of a technical type, needed at some particular stage to control the error terms on the gain regularity virial (see (6.20)). A proof of these estimates is present in [68], but without the localization terms. Here we slightly improve these estimates by considering the region of space where these functions are supported.

Remark 6.2. For further purposes, we will need the previous identities in the simplest case R = 1. We obtain

$$\int \chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x^2 v_i)^2 = \int (\partial_x^2 z_i)^2 + \int \tilde{R}_1 z_i^2 + \int P_1 (\partial_x z_i)^2 + \int \left[P_1' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} + P_1 \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} \right] z_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_2 \zeta_B^2 v_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_1 (P_1) \zeta_B^2 v_i^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_3 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_i)^2, \qquad (6.11)$$

where (see (6.6) and (6.7))

$$\tilde{R}_1 = -2\left[\frac{\zeta_B^{(4)}}{\zeta_B} + \frac{\zeta_B^{\prime\prime\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B}\frac{\zeta_B^{\prime}}{\zeta_B}\right], \quad P_1 = 4\frac{\zeta_B^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B} - 2\left(\frac{\zeta_B^{\prime}}{\zeta_B}\right)^2, \tag{6.12}$$

 \mathcal{E}_1 is defined in (5.9), \mathcal{E}_2 in (6.8) becomes

$$\mathcal{E}_{2}(1) = -\left[\chi_{A}^{(4)}\chi_{A} + 4\chi_{A}^{'''}\chi_{A}\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} + 6\chi_{A}^{''}\chi_{A}\frac{\zeta_{B}^{''}}{\zeta_{B}} + 2(\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\zeta_{B}^{'''}}{\zeta_{B}}\right],\tag{6.13}$$

and (6.9) now reads

$$\mathcal{E}_{3}(1) = 4\chi_{A}''\chi_{A} - 2(\chi_{A}')^{2} + 2\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}}(\chi_{A}^{2})'.$$
(6.14)

Finally, by (4.13) and (4.14), we obtain the simplified estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|\chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x^2 v_i\| &\lesssim \|\partial_x^2 z_i\|_{L^2}^2 + B^{-1} \|\partial_x z_i\|_{L^2}^2 + B^{-1} \|z_i\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &+ (AB)^{-1} (\|\zeta_B v_i\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\zeta_B \partial_x v_i\|_{L^2}^2). \end{aligned}$$

6.3. Start of proof of Proposition 6.2

The proof of this result needs the following computation:

Lemma 6.4. Let $(v_1, v_2) \in H^1(\mathbb{R}) \times H^2(\mathbb{R})$ be a solution of (5.2). Consider $\phi_{A,B} = \psi_{A,B} = \chi_A^2 \varphi_B$. Then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} = -\frac{1}{2}\int [(\partial_x z_1)^2 + V_0(\partial_x z_2)^2 + 3(\partial_x^2 z_2)^2] + \mathcal{R}_z + \mathcal{R}_v + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_v$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2}\int \phi_{A,B}V_0'(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int \phi_{A,B}[\partial_x G\partial_x v_2 + \widetilde{F}\partial_x v_1]$$
$$-\rho'\int \phi'_{A,B}\partial_x v_1\partial_x v_2, \qquad (6.15)$$

where $\mathcal{R}_z(t)$, $\mathcal{R}_v(t)$ and $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_v(t)$ are error terms that, under the constraint (5.6), satisfy the bound

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{R}_{z} + \mathcal{R}_{v} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{v}| &\lesssim \delta^{1/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}). \end{aligned}$$
(6.16)

Proof. First, we recall that $z_i = \chi_A \zeta_B v_i$, and by (5.15) and Remark 5.1, one gets

$$\int \phi_{A,B}'(\partial_x v_1)^2 = \int (\partial_x z_1)^2 + \int \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B} z_1^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_1 \zeta_B^2 v_1^2 + \int (\chi_A^2)' \varphi_B(\partial_x v_1)^2, \quad (6.17)$$

where \mathcal{E}_1 is given by (5.12). For the second term of (6.4), applying (5.8), we obtain

$$\int \phi_{A,B}' V_0(\partial_x v_2)^2 = \int V_0(\partial_x z_2)^2 + \int \left[V_0' \frac{\xi_B'}{\xi_B} + V_0 \frac{\xi_B''}{\xi_B} \right] z_2^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_1(V_0) \xi_B^2 v_2^2 + \int (\chi_A^2)' \varphi_B V_0(\partial_x v_2)^2,$$

where following (5.9),

$$\mathcal{E}_{1}(V_{0}) = V_{0} \bigg[\chi_{A}'' \chi_{A} + (\chi_{A}^{2})' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} \bigg] + \frac{1}{2} V_{0}'(\chi_{A}^{2})'.$$

Now, using (6.11) in Remark 6.2, we get

$$\int \phi_{A,B}'(\partial_x^2 v_2)^2 = \int (\partial_x^2 z_2)^2 + \int P_1(\partial_x z_2)^2 + \int \left[\tilde{R}_1 + P_1' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} + P_1 \frac{\zeta_B''}{\zeta_B}\right] z_2^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_2(1)\zeta_B^2 v_2^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_1(P_1)\zeta_B^2 v_2^2 + \int \mathcal{E}_3(1)\zeta_B^2(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int (\chi_A^2)' \varphi_B(\partial_x^2 v_2)^2,$$
(6.18)

where \tilde{R}_1 , P_1 , $\mathcal{E}_2(1)$, $\mathcal{E}_3(1)$ are given by (6.12), (6.13), (6.14), and \mathcal{E}_1 is given by (5.9).

Now, continuing with the second integral on the right-hand side of (6.4), we have

$$\int \phi_{A,B}^{'''} (\partial_x v_2)^2 = \int \frac{(\xi_B^2)''}{\zeta_B^2} \chi_A^2 \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int \left[6(\chi_A^2)' \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} + 3(\chi_A^2)'' + (\chi_A^2)''' \frac{\varphi_B}{\zeta_B^2} \right] \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_2)^2,$$

and using Claim 5.2,

$$\int \phi_{A,B}^{\prime\prime\prime} (\partial_x v_2)^2 = \int \frac{(\zeta_B^2)^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B^2} (\partial_x z_2)^2 + \int \frac{(\zeta_B^2)^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B^2} \frac{\zeta_B^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B} z_2^2 + \int \left(\frac{(\zeta_B^2)^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B^2}\right)^{\prime} \frac{\zeta_B^{\prime}}{\zeta_B} z_2^2 + \int \frac{(\zeta_B^2)^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B^2} \left[\chi_A^{\prime\prime} \chi_A + (\chi_A^2)^{\prime} \frac{\zeta_B^{\prime}}{\zeta_B}\right] \zeta_B^2 v_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \left(\frac{(\zeta_B^2)^{\prime\prime}}{\zeta_B^2}\right)^{\prime} (\chi_A^2)^{\prime} \zeta_B^2 v_2^2 + \int \left[6(\chi_A^2)^{\prime} \frac{\zeta_B^{\prime}}{\zeta_B} + 3(\chi_A^2)^{\prime\prime} + (\chi_A^2)^{\prime\prime\prime} \frac{\varphi_B}{\zeta_B^2}\right] \zeta_B^2 (\partial_x v_2)^2.$$
(6.19)

Collecting (6.17), (6.18) and (6.19), we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} = -\frac{1}{2}\int \left[(\partial_x z_1)^2 + V_0 (\partial_x z_2)^2 + 3(\partial_x^2 z_2)^2 \right] + \mathcal{R}_z + \mathcal{R}_v + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_v + \frac{1}{2}\int \phi_{A,B}V_0'(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int \phi_{A,B}[\partial_x G \partial_x v_2 + \widetilde{F} \partial_x v_1] - \rho' \int \phi'_{A,B}\partial_x v_1 \partial_x v_2,$$

where the error terms are the following: associated to (z_1, z_2) is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{z} &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} z_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int \left[V_{0}' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} + V_{0} \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} \right] z_{2}^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \int \left[\tilde{R}_{1} + P_{1}' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} + P_{1} \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} \right] z_{2}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} z_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int \left[\frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \right]' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} z_{2}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int \left[\frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} - 3P_{1} \right] (\partial_{x} z_{2})^{2}, \end{aligned}$$
(6.20)

associated to (v_1, v_2) is

$$\mathcal{R}_{v} = -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathcal{E}_{1}(1)\xi_{B}^{2}v_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int \mathcal{E}_{1}(V_{0})\xi_{B}^{2}v_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \int \frac{(\xi_{B}^{2})''}{\xi_{B}^{2}} \bigg[\chi_{A}''\chi_{A} + 2(\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\xi_{B}'}{\xi_{B}}\bigg]\xi_{B}^{2}v_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \int \bigg[\frac{(\xi_{B}^{2})''}{\xi_{B}^{2}}\bigg]'(\chi_{A}^{2})'\xi_{B}^{2}v_{2}^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \int \mathcal{E}_{2}(1)\xi_{B}^{2}v_{2}^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \int \mathcal{E}_{1}(P_{1})\xi_{B}^{2}v_{2}^{2}$$
(6.21)

and associated to $(\partial_x v_1, \partial_x v_2)$ is

$$\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{v} = -\frac{3}{2} \int \mathcal{E}_{3}(1)\zeta_{B}^{2}(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'\varphi_{B}(\partial_{x}v_{1})^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'\varphi_{B}V_{0}(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int \left[6(\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} + 3(\chi_{A}^{2})'' + (\chi_{A}^{2})'''\frac{\varphi_{B}}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \right] \zeta_{B}^{2}(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'\varphi_{B}(\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2})^{2}.$$
(6.22)

We have obtained the identity (6.15). To conclude the proof of Lemma 6.4, we must estimate the error terms.

6.4. Controlling error terms

Recall $\mathcal{R}_{z}(t)$ from (6.20). Decompose

$$\mathcal{R}_z(t) = \mathcal{R}_z^1(t) + \mathcal{R}_z^2(t) + \mathcal{R}_z^3(t),$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{z}^{1} &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} [z_{1}^{2} + V_{0} z_{2}^{2}] - \frac{1}{2} \int V_{0}' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} z_{2}^{2}, \\ \mathcal{R}_{z}^{2} &= -\frac{3}{2} \int \left[\tilde{R}_{1} + P_{1}' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} + P_{1} \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} \right] z_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int \left[\frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} - 3P_{1} \right] (\partial_{x} z_{2})^{2}, \\ \mathcal{R}_{z}^{3} &= \frac{1}{2} \int \left[\frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \frac{\zeta_{B}''}{\zeta_{B}} + \left(\frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \right)' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} \right] z_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

In the case of \mathcal{R}_z^1 , recalling the estimate (4.13), we obtain

$$|\mathcal{R}_{z}^{1}| \lesssim B^{-1}(||z_{1}||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||z_{2}||_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$
(6.23)

As for \mathcal{R}_z^2 , we recall the form of P_1 (see (6.12)), \tilde{R}_1 (see (6.12)), and by (4.13), we conclude that

$$|\mathcal{R}_{z}^{2}| \lesssim B^{-1}(||z_{2}||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||\partial_{x}z_{2}||_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$
(6.24)

Now we consider the term \mathcal{R}_z^3 . From (4.14) we obtain

$$|\mathcal{R}_{z}^{3}| \lesssim B^{-1} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(6.25)

Collecting (6.23), (6.24) and (6.25), and considering (5.6), we finally get

$$|\mathcal{R}_z| \lesssim \delta^{1/10} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$
(6.26)

Controlling \mathcal{R}_{v} . For the term \mathcal{R}_{v} given by (6.21), we consider the following decomposition

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{v}^{1} &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \mathcal{E}_{1}(1) \zeta_{B}^{2} v_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \int (\mathcal{E}_{1}(V_{0}) + 3\mathcal{E}_{2}(1) + 3\mathcal{E}_{1}(P_{1})) \zeta_{B}^{2} v_{2}^{2}, \\ \mathcal{R}_{v}^{2} &= \frac{1}{4} \int \frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \bigg[\chi_{A}'' \chi_{A} + 2(\chi_{A}^{2})' \frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} \bigg] \zeta_{B}^{2} v_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \int \bigg(\frac{(\zeta_{B}^{2})''}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \bigg)' (\chi_{A}^{2})' \zeta_{B}^{2} v_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

We note that the terms $\mathcal{E}_1(P_1)$ and $\mathcal{E}_2(1)$ (see (5.9), (6.12) and (6.13)), by (4.14) and (6.10), are bounded and satisfy the estimates

$$|\mathcal{E}_2(1)| \lesssim (AB^3)^{-1}$$
 and $|\mathcal{E}_1(P_1)| \lesssim (AB^3)^{-1}$,

and for $\mathcal{E}_1(1)$ in (5.12) and $\mathcal{E}_1(V_0)$ in (5.10) (replacing P by V_0),

$$|\mathcal{E}_1(1)| \lesssim (AB)^{-1}, \quad |\mathcal{E}_1(V_0)| \lesssim (AB)^{-1}.$$

Consequently,

$$|\mathcal{R}_{v}^{1}| \lesssim \frac{1}{AB} (\|\zeta_{B}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\zeta_{B}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$

Also,

$$|\mathcal{R}_{v}^{2}| \lesssim \frac{1}{AB} (\|\zeta_{B}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\zeta_{B}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$

Then, applying (5.34) and (5.29), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{R}_{v}| &\lesssim (AB)^{-1} (\|\zeta_{B}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\zeta_{B}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) \\ &\lesssim (AB)^{-1} \gamma^{-1} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}), \end{aligned}$$

By (5.6), we have $(AB)^{-1}\gamma^{-1} = \delta^{7/10}$. Then we get

$$|\mathcal{R}_{v}| \lesssim \delta^{7/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$
(6.27)

Controlling \mathcal{DR}_{v} . In the case of the term \mathcal{DR}_{v} given by (6.22), first of all we have from (6.14) and (5.35),

$$|\mathcal{E}_3(1)| \lesssim \frac{1}{AB}.$$

Using (5.35) and (4.15) again, we have

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{v}| \lesssim \int |\mathcal{E}_{3}(1)|\zeta_{B}^{2}(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2} + \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'|\varphi_{B}|(\partial_{x}v_{1})^{2} + \int (\chi_{A}^{2})'|\varphi_{B}V_{0}|(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2} \\ &+ \int \left| 6(\chi_{A}^{2})'\frac{\zeta_{B}'}{\zeta_{B}} + 3(\chi_{A}^{2})'' + (\chi_{A}^{2})'''\frac{\varphi_{B}}{\zeta_{B}^{2}} \right| \zeta_{B}^{2}(\partial_{x}v_{2})^{2} + \int |(\chi_{A}^{2})'\varphi_{B}|(\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2})^{2} \\ &\lesssim BA^{-1}(\|\zeta_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\zeta_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\zeta_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}). \end{split}$$

Now, applying (5.28) and (5.29) with K = A, and by (5.6), we get

$$|\mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{v}| \lesssim \delta^{1/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$
(6.28)

And, by (6.26), (6.27) and (6.28), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{R}_{z} + \mathcal{R}_{v} + \mathcal{D}\mathcal{R}_{v}| \\ \lesssim \delta^{1/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}), \quad (6.29) \end{aligned}$$

which proves (6.16). This ends the proof of Lemma 6.4.

6.5. Controlling nonlinear terms

Recall the second line of error terms in (6.15):

$$\frac{1}{2}\int\phi_{A,B}V_0'(\partial_x v_2)^2 + \int\phi_{A,B}[\partial_x G\partial_x v_2 + \widetilde{F}\partial_x v_1] - \rho'\int\phi_{A,B}'\partial_x v_1\partial_x v_2.$$

In order to control them in a well-ordered fashion, we set

$$\mathcal{M}_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \int \phi_{A,B} V_{0}'(\partial_{x} v_{2})^{2}, \qquad \mathcal{M}_{2} = \int \phi_{A,B} \partial_{x} G \partial_{x} v_{2},$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{1} = \int \phi_{A,B} \partial_{x} F \partial_{x} v_{1}, \qquad \mathcal{M}_{3} = -\rho' \int \phi_{A,B}' \partial_{x} v_{1} \partial_{x} v_{2}.$$

(6.30)

6.5.1. Control of \mathcal{M}_0 . Noticing that $V'_0 = 6HH'$, $|V'_0| \lesssim H'$, $\phi_{A,B} = \chi^2_A \varphi_B$ and that

$$|H'(y)\varphi_B(y)| \lesssim \left|y\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\right| \lesssim e^{-|y|},$$

we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\int \phi_{A,B}V_0'(\partial_x v_2)^2 \lesssim \|e^{-|y|/2}\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$

Following a decomposition similar to that in (5.39), using (5.29), and recalling the values for *B* and γ in (5.6), one gets

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{M}_{0}| &= \left| \frac{1}{2} \int \phi_{A,B} V_{0}'(\partial_{x} v_{2})^{2} \right| \\ &\lesssim e^{-A/2} \|\zeta_{B} \partial_{x} v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + B^{-1} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + (Ae^{A/4})^{-1} \|\zeta_{B} v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \delta^{1/10} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \delta \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.31)

6.5.2. Control of \mathcal{M}_1 . Recalling \mathcal{M}_1 in (6.30) and that $\tilde{F} = \partial_x F$, with F given by (5.3), we can say the following:

$$|\mathcal{M}_1| \lesssim \|\chi_A \varphi_B \partial_x v_1\|_{L^2} \|\chi_A (1-\gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x^2 [u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2]\|_{L^2}.$$

Using (4.15),

$$|\mathcal{M}_{1}| \lesssim \|\chi_{A}\varphi_{B}\partial_{x}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}\|\zeta_{A}^{2}(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}\partial_{x}^{2}[u_{1}^{3}+3Hu_{1}^{2}]\|_{L^{2}}.$$

Now, using (5.24) and by (5.45), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\zeta_A^2 (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x^2 [u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2]\|_{L^2} &\leq \gamma^{-1/2} \|\zeta_A^2 \partial_x [u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2]\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \gamma^{-1/2} \|u_1\|_{L^\infty} [\|w_1\|_{L^2} + \|\zeta_A \partial_x u_1\|_{L^2}]. \end{aligned}$$
(6.32)

Then, by (5.44), (5.28) and the above estimates, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{M}_{1}| &\lesssim \gamma^{-1/2} B\delta \|\xi_{A}^{2} \partial_{x} v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} [\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\xi_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}] \\ &\lesssim \gamma^{-3/2} B\delta [\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}]. \end{aligned}$$

Considering that $\delta \gamma^{-3/2} B = \delta^{3/10}$, by (5.6), we conclude that

$$|\mathcal{M}_1| \lesssim \delta^{3/10} [\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2].$$
(6.33)

6.5.3. Control of \mathcal{M}_2 . Recall that $\tilde{G} = \partial_x G$, G given by (5.3). First of all, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{M}_{2} &= \int \phi_{A,B} \partial_{x} G \partial_{x} v_{2} \\ &= -\gamma \int ((\chi_{A}^{2})' \zeta_{B}^{2} + \chi_{A}^{2} (\zeta_{B}^{2})') \partial_{x} v_{2} (1 - \gamma \partial_{x}^{2})^{-1} [V_{0}'' \partial_{x} v_{2} + 2V_{0}' \partial_{x}^{2} v_{2}] \\ &- \gamma \int \chi_{A}^{2} \varphi_{B} \partial_{x}^{2} v_{2} (1 - \gamma \partial_{x}^{2})^{-1} [V_{0}'' \partial_{x} v_{2} + 2V_{0}' \partial_{x}^{2} v_{2}] \\ &- \rho' \int \chi_{A}^{2} \varphi_{B} \partial_{x} v_{2} (1 - \gamma \partial_{x}^{2})^{-1} \partial_{x} (V_{0}' u_{1}) \\ &=: M_{21} + M_{22} + M_{23}. \end{split}$$

First, we focus on M_{21} . Using (5.35), (5.13) in Remark 5.1 and (5.29), we have

$$\begin{split} \| ((\chi_{A}^{2})'\zeta_{B}^{2} + \chi_{A}^{2}(\zeta_{B}^{2})')\partial_{x}v_{2} \|_{L^{2}} \\ &= 2 \| (\chi_{A}'\zeta_{B} + \chi_{A}\zeta_{B}')\chi_{A}\zeta_{B}\partial_{x}v_{2} \|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim (A^{-1} + B^{-1}) \| \chi_{A}\zeta_{B}\partial_{x}v_{2} \|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim B^{-1} (\|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + B^{-1/2}\|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + (AB)^{-1/2}\|\zeta_{B}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}) \\ &\lesssim B^{-1} (\|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + B^{-1/2}\|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + (AB)^{-1/2}\|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}) \\ &\lesssim B^{-1} (\|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}). \end{split}$$

Additionally, by (5.40) and (5.29), and $e^{-A/4}\gamma^{-1} \ll 1$,

$$\begin{split} \|(1-\gamma\partial_x^2)^{-1}[V_0''\partial_x v_2 + 2V_0'\partial_x^2 v_2]\|_{L^2} &\lesssim \gamma^{-1/2}(\|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2}\|z_2\|_{L^2}) \\ &+ e^{-A/4}\gamma^{-1/2}(\|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2} + \|\zeta_B\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}) \\ &\lesssim \gamma^{-1/2}(\|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + \|z_2\|_{L^2}) + \|w_2\|_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

After applying the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality on M_{21} , we conclude that

$$|M_{21}| \lesssim B^{-1} \gamma^{1/2} [\|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2].$$
(6.34)

Second, for M_{22} we set $\varrho(y) = \operatorname{sech}(y/10)$ and we perform the following separation:

$$|M_{22}| \lesssim \left| \gamma \int \chi_A^2 \varphi_B \partial_x^2 v_2 (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} [V_0'' \partial_x v_2 + 2V_0' \partial_x^2 v_2] \right|$$

$$\lesssim \gamma \| \varrho \chi_A^2 \varphi_B \partial_x^2 v_2 \|_{L^2} \| \varrho^{-1} (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} [V_0'' \partial_x v_2 + 2V_0' \partial_x^2 v_2] \|_{L^2}$$

Since $|\varrho \varphi_B \zeta_B^{-1}| \lesssim B$, one gets

$$|M_{22}| \lesssim \gamma B \|\chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x^2 v_2\|_{L^2} \|\varrho^{-1} (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} [V_0'' \partial_x v_2 + 2V_0' \partial_x^2 v_2]\|_{L^2}.$$

Now we focus on the second term on the right-hand side above. Using (5.23) from Lemma 5.5, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varrho^{-1}(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}[V_{0}''\partial_{x}v_{2}+2V_{0}'\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2}]\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \|(1-\gamma\partial_{x}^{2})^{-1}[V_{0}''\varrho^{-1}\partial_{x}v_{2}+2V_{0}'\varrho^{-1}\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2}]\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \|V_{0}''\varrho^{-1}\partial_{x}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}+\|V_{0}'\varrho^{-1}\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2}\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.35)$$

Since $|V_0'' \rho^{-1}| \lesssim e^{-|y|}$, following a similar decomposition to (5.39), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{-|y|}\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} &\lesssim \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2}\|z_2\|_{L^2} + A^{-1}e^{-A/4}\|\zeta_B v_2\|_{L^2} + e^{-A}\|\zeta_A \partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} \\ &\lesssim \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2}\|z_2\|_{L^2} + A^{-1}e^{-A/4}\|w_2\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

The case of the second term on the right-hand side of (6.35) requires more care. First of all, we note again that $V'_0 \rho^{-1} \sim e^{-|y|}$ and repeating the same decomposition, we have

$$\|e^{-|y|}\partial_x^2 v_2\|_{L^2} \le e^{-A/2} \|\zeta_B \partial_x^2 v_2\|_{L^2} + \|e^{-|y|/2} \chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x^2 v_2\|_{L^2}$$

Applying Remark 6.2 and Lemma 5.7 (5.29), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{-|y|}\partial_x^2 v_2\|_{L^2} &\leq \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2} + B^{-1/2} \|z_2\|_{L^2} \\ &+ (AB)^{-1/2} e^{-A/4} \gamma^{-1/2} \|w_2\|_{L^2} + e^{-A/2} \gamma^{-1} \|w_2\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, gathering the previous estimates, for M_{22} we have

$$|M_{22}| \lesssim \gamma B(\|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + B^{-1} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + B^{-1} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + (AB)^{-1} \gamma^{-1/2} \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$
(6.36)

Third, we treat the term M_{23} . By the Hölder inequality and Lemma 5.4 (i), we get

$$|M_{23}| = |\rho'| \left| \int \chi_A \varphi_B \partial_x v_2 (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x (V_0' u_1) \right|$$

$$\lesssim |\rho'| \| \chi_A \varphi_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2} \| (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x (V_0' u_1) \|_{L^2}$$

$$\lesssim |\rho'| \| \chi_A \varphi_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2} \| \partial_x (V_0' u_1) \|_{L^2}.$$

Expanding the derivatives, by (5.35) one gets

$$\begin{split} |M_{23}| &\lesssim |\rho'| \|\chi_A \varphi_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2} \|V_0'' u_1 + V_0' \partial_x u_1 \|_{L^2} \\ &\lesssim B|\rho'| \|\partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2} \|V_0'' u_1 + V_0' \partial_x u_1 \|_{L^2}, \end{split}$$

and by (5.27), we obtain

$$|M_{23}| \lesssim B\gamma^{-1/2} |\rho'| ||u_2||_{L^2} ||V_0''u_1 + V_0' \partial_x u_1||_{L^2}.$$

Then having in mind (4.17) and (4.3), using (5.33) (since $|V'_0|, |V''_0| \sim e^{-\sqrt{2}|x|}$), we obtain

$$|M_{23}| \lesssim B\gamma^{-1/2}\delta|\rho'|(||w_1||_{L^2} + ||\partial_x w_1||_{L^2}).$$
(6.37)

Collecting (6.34), (6.36) and (6.37), one obtains

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{M}_{2}| \lesssim B^{-1} \gamma^{1/2} [\|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}] \\ &+ \gamma B[\|\partial_{x}^{2} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + B^{-1}\|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + B^{-1}\|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}] \\ &+ B \gamma^{-1/2} \delta |\rho'| [\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}]. \end{split}$$

Using (5.6) and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{M}_{2}| &\lesssim \delta^{3/10} [\|\partial_{x}^{2} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}] \\ &+ \delta^{7/10} [\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + |\rho'|^{2}]. \end{aligned}$$
(6.38)

6.5.4. Control of \mathcal{M}_3 . Replacing (5.15), we get

$$\mathcal{M}_{3} = -\rho' \int (\chi_{A}^{2} \zeta_{B}^{2} + (\chi_{A}^{2})' \varphi_{B}) \partial_{x} v_{1} \partial_{x} v_{2}$$

= $-\rho' \int \chi_{A}^{2} \zeta_{B}^{2} \partial_{x} v_{1} \partial_{x} v_{2} - 2\rho' \int \chi_{A}' \varphi_{B} \chi_{A} \partial_{x} v_{1} \partial_{x} v_{2} \eqqcolon M_{31} + M_{32}.$

Control of M_{31} **.** By the Hölder inequality, recalling that $v_1 = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \mathcal{L} u_1$ (see (5.1)), and using (5.26), we get

$$|M_{31}| \leq |\rho'| \| \chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x v_1 \|_{L^2} \| \chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2} \leq \gamma^{-1} |\rho'| \| u_1 \|_{H^1} \| \chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2}.$$

From (4.3),

$$|M_{31}| \lesssim \gamma^{-1} \delta |\rho'| \| \chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2}.$$
(6.39)

Control of M_{32} . Applying the Hölder inequality, we get

$$|M_{32}| \lesssim BA^{-1} |\rho'| \|\partial_x v_2\|_{L^2(A < |y| < 2A)} \|\partial_x v_1\|_{L^2}.$$

Using (5.26) and (4.15), we obtain

$$|M_{32}| \lesssim \gamma^{-1} B A^{-1} |\rho'| ||u_1||_{H^1} ||\zeta_A^2 \partial_x v_2||_{L^2},$$

and

$$|M_{32}| \lesssim \gamma^{-1} \delta B A^{-1} |\rho'| \| \zeta_A^2 \partial_x v_2 \|_{L^2}.$$
(6.40)

Collecting (6.39) and (6.40), we get

$$|\mathcal{M}_3| \lesssim \gamma^{-1} \delta |\rho'| [\|\chi_A \zeta_B \partial_x v_2\|_{L^2} + BA^{-1} \|\zeta_A^2 \partial_x v_2\|_{L^2}].$$

Then, by (5.13), (5.29) and (5.6), we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{M}_{3}| &\lesssim \gamma^{-1} \delta |\rho'| [\|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + B^{-1/2} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + (AB)^{-1/2} \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &+ BA^{-1} \gamma^{-1/2} \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}] \\ &\lesssim \delta^{3/5} |\rho'| [\|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \delta^{1/20} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \delta^{11/20} \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}]. \end{split}$$

Hence, using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we conclude that

$$|\mathcal{M}_3| \lesssim \delta^{3/5} [|\rho'|^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{1/10} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{11/10} \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2].$$
(6.41)

6.6. End of proof of Proposition 6.2

Gathering (6.29), (6.31), (6.33), (6.38) and (6.41), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} &\leq -\frac{1}{2}\int \left[(\partial_{x}z_{1})^{2} + V_{0}(\partial_{x}z_{2})^{2} + 3(\partial_{x}^{2}z_{2})^{2} \right] + C_{3}\delta^{3/10} \|\partial_{x}^{2}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ C_{3}\delta^{1/10} (\|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + C_{3}\|\partial_{x}z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ C_{3}\delta^{1/10} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + \delta^{7/10} |\rho'|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, for δ small enough, we conclude that for some $C_3 > 0$ fixed,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int [(\partial_x z_1)^2 + 2(\partial_x^2 z_2)^2] + C_3(\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_3\delta^{1/10}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_3\delta^{7/10}|\rho'|^2.$$

This proves (6.5).

7. Coercivity estimates

Before starting the proof of Theorem 1.2, we need coercivity results to deal with the terms

$$\int \varphi_A (3H + u_1) H' u_1^2, \quad \delta |\rho'|^2, \quad \rho' \int \varphi_A H' u_2, \tag{7.1}$$

which appear in the virial estimates of $\mathcal{I}(t)$ (see (4.19)). We will decompose this term in terms of the variables (w_1, w_2) and (z_1, z_2) . The last ones involve the variables (v_1, v_2) ; then we should be able to reconstruct the operator \mathcal{L} from our computations.

7.1. First coercivity estimate

The key element of the proof of Theorem 1.2 is the following transfer estimate.

Lemma 7.1. Let u_1 be in H^1 , (w_1, w_2) be as in (4.17) and (z_1, z_2) as in (5.5). Then

$$\left| \int \varphi_A (3H + u_1) H' u_1^2 \right| \lesssim \delta^{1/20} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2) + \frac{1}{\delta^{1/20}} \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5} \|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(7.2)

Proof. First, we observe that $\varphi_A(y) \lesssim |y|$, and

$$|\varphi_A(3H+u_1)H'| \lesssim |y|\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \lesssim \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{2}\right).$$
 (7.3)

Set $\frac{2}{B} < \ell < \min\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}\sqrt{\lambda}\} \le \frac{1}{2}$, where λ is such that the coercivity on Lemma 2.4 holds. We note that

$$\int \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{2}\right) u_1^2 \lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) u_1^2$$

Now, we focus on the term on the right-hand side of the last inequality. Applying Lemma 2.4 with $\phi_L = \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y)$, and using that $|\phi'| \leq C \ell \phi$ and that $\langle u_1, H' \rangle = 0$, we obtain for some $\lambda > 0$,

$$\int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) u_1^2 \leq \int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) [u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2]$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\lambda} \int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) [(\partial_x u_1)^2 + V_0 u_1^2]$$

Now, integrating by parts, one gets

$$\int \operatorname{sech}(\ell y)(\partial_x u_1)^2 = -\int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y)u_1\partial_x^2 u_1 + \frac{1}{2}\int (\operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y))'' u_1^2.$$

Using that

r

$$|(\operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y))''| \le \ell^2 \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y),$$

and choosing ℓ small enough $(0 < \ell \le \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{4})$, one gets

$$\int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) u_1^2 \lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) \mathcal{L}(u_1) u_1.$$

Now, using the definition of v_1 , we obtain

$$\int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) \mathcal{L}(u_1) u_1 = \int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) u_1 v_1 - \gamma \int \operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) u_1 \partial_x^2 v_1.$$
(7.4)

For the first integral on the right-hand side of (7.4), using the definitions of z_1 and w_1 , one can see that

$$\int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)u_{1}v_{1}$$
$$= \int \chi_{A}^{3}\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)u_{1}v_{1} + \int (1-\chi_{A}^{3})\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)u_{1}v_{1}$$

$$= \int \chi_{A}^{2} \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)(\zeta_{A}\zeta_{B})^{-1}w_{1}z_{1} + \int (1-\chi_{A}^{3})\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)\zeta_{A}^{-2}w_{1}(\zeta_{A}v_{1})$$

$$\lesssim \max_{|y|<2A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)(\zeta_{A}\zeta_{B})^{-1}\} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$+ \max_{|y|>A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)\zeta_{A}^{-2}\} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\zeta_{A}v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \max_{|y|<2A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)(\zeta_{A}\zeta_{B})^{-1}\} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma^{-1} \max_{|y|>A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)\zeta_{A}^{-2}\} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

$$\lesssim \varepsilon \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \varepsilon^{-1} \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \gamma^{-1}e^{-\frac{A}{4B}} \|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \qquad (7.5)$$

where ε is a positive number to be chosen later. Note that the last inequality holds if $2B^{-1} < \ell$. Now, for the second integral on the right-hand side of (7.4), integrating by parts we obtain the expression

$$\int \partial_{x} [\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)u_{1}]\partial_{x}v_{1}$$

$$= \int [(\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))'u_{1} + \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)\partial_{x}u_{1}]\partial_{x}v_{1}$$

$$= \int (\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))'\chi_{A}^{2}u_{1}\partial_{x}v_{1} + \int (1 - \chi_{A}^{2})(\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))'u_{1}\partial_{x}v_{1}$$

$$+ \int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)\chi_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}u_{1}\partial_{x}v_{1} + \int (1 - \chi_{A}^{2})\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y)\partial_{x}u_{1}\partial_{x}v_{1}$$

$$=: \ell_{1} + \ell_{2} + \ell_{3} + \ell_{4}.$$
(7.6)

We treat each term ℓ_i in (7.6), starting with ℓ_1 . Using the following decomposition and by the Hölder inequality, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int (\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))' \chi_{A}^{2} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| \\ &\lesssim \left| \int (\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))' \chi_{A}^{4} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| + \left| \int (\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))' (1 - \chi_{A}^{2}) \chi_{A}^{2} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| \\ &\lesssim \left| \int (\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))' \chi_{A}^{4} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| + \left| \int (\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y))' \zeta_{A}^{-2} (1 - \chi_{A}^{2}) w_{1} (\zeta_{A} \partial_{x} v_{1}) \right| \\ &\lesssim \ell \| \chi_{A} u_{1} \|_{L^{2}} \| \zeta_{B} \chi_{A}^{2} \partial_{x} v_{1} \|_{L^{2}} + \ell \max_{|x| > A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \zeta_{A}^{-2} \} \| w_{1} \|_{L^{2}} \| \zeta_{A} \partial_{x} v_{1} \|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Furthermore, by the definition of z_1 , we can check

$$\chi_A^2 \zeta_B \partial_x v_1 = \chi_A \partial_x z_1 - \chi_A \frac{\zeta_B'}{\zeta_B} z_1 - \chi_A' z_1, \qquad (7.7)$$

and by Lemma 5.7 (5.28) and Remark 4.15, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\ell_1| &= \left| \int (\operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y))' \chi_A^2 u_1 \partial_x v_1 \right| \\ &\lesssim \ell \|w_1\|_{L^2} (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2} + B^{-1}\|z_1\|_{L^2}) \\ &+ \ell \gamma^{-1} \max_{|y| > A} \{\operatorname{sech}^2(\ell y) \zeta_A^{-2}\} (\|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_1\|_{L^2}^2). \end{aligned}$$
(7.8)

In similar way, we obtain for ℓ_3 ,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \chi_{A}^{2} \partial_{x} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| \\ & \lesssim \left| \int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \chi_{A}^{4} \partial_{x} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| + \left| \int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) (1 - \chi_{A}^{2}) \chi_{A}^{2} \partial_{x} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| \\ & \lesssim \|\chi_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\zeta_{B} \chi_{A}^{2} \partial_{x} v_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \max_{|y| > A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \zeta_{A}^{-2}\} \|\zeta_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\zeta_{A} \partial_{x} v_{1}\|_{L^{2}}. \end{split}$$

By (7.7), Lemma 5.7 and Remark 4.15, we get

$$\left| \int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \partial_{x} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| \lesssim \| \zeta_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1} \|_{L^{2}} (\| \partial_{x} z_{1} \|_{L^{2}} + \| z_{1} \|_{L^{2}}) + \gamma^{-1} \max_{|y| > A} \{ \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \zeta_{A}^{-2} \} \| \zeta_{A} \partial_{x} u_{1} \|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

We conclude using (5.5) with K = A. We obtain

$$\left| \int \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \partial_{x} u_{1} \partial_{x} v_{1} \right| \lesssim (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}) (\|\partial_{x} z_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + \|z_{1}\|_{L^{2}}) + \gamma^{-1} \max_{|y| > A} \{\operatorname{sech}^{2}(\ell y) \zeta_{A}^{-2}\} (\|w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x} w_{1}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}).$$
(7.9)

Collecting (7.5), (7.8), (7.9) and by the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int \operatorname{sech}(y) u_1^2 &\lesssim \varepsilon \|w_1\|_{L^2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|z_1\|_{L^2} \\ &+ \gamma(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2) + \gamma(\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + B^{-2}\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\lesssim \max\{\varepsilon, A^{-1}, \gamma\} \|w_1\|_{L^2} + \gamma \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &+ \max\{\varepsilon^{-1}, B^{-2}\} \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \gamma \|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$

Finally, by (5.6) and choosing $\varepsilon = \delta^{1/20}$, we conclude that

$$\int \operatorname{sech}(y) u_1^2 \lesssim B^{-1/2} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2) + B^{1/2} \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \gamma \|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{1/20} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2) + \frac{1}{\delta^{1/20}} \|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5} \|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2. \quad (7.10)$$

This ends the proof of Lemma 7.1.

7.2. Second coercivity estimate

Now we consider the second term in (7.1). Recall the estimate for the shift ρ obtained in (4.6), where

$$|\rho'|^2 \lesssim \int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2.$$

In order to manage this term, we will decompose it in localized terms for w_2 and z_2 .

Lemma 7.2. Let u_2 be in L^2 , (w_1, w_2) be as in (4.17), and (z_1, z_2) as in (5.5). Then

$$\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 \lesssim \delta^{1/20} \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{\delta^{1/20}} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{3/5} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(7.11)

Proof. First, we consider the decomposition

$$\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 = \int \chi_A^3 e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 + \int (1 - \chi_A^3) e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2.$$
(7.12)

For the second integral on the right-hand side it holds that

$$\int (1 - \chi_A^3) e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 \lesssim \sup_{|y| > A} \{ e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} \zeta_A^{-2} \} \int w_2^2 \ll \gamma \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(7.13)

Now, we focus on the first integral on the right-hand side of (7.12). We observe that

$$\chi_A^2 \zeta_B \partial_x v_2 = \chi_A \partial_x z_2 - (\chi_A \zeta_B)' \zeta_B^{-1} z_2,$$

and

$$\chi_{A}^{3}\zeta_{B}\partial_{x}^{2}v_{2} = \chi_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}^{2}z_{2} - (\chi_{A}\zeta_{B})''\zeta_{B}^{-1}\chi_{A}z_{2} - 2(\chi_{A}\zeta_{B})'\zeta_{B}^{-1}\chi_{A}^{2}\zeta_{B}\partial_{x}v_{2}$$

$$= \chi_{A}^{2}\partial_{x}^{2}z_{2} - (\chi_{A}\zeta_{B})''\zeta_{B}^{-1}\chi_{A}z_{2}$$

$$- 2(\chi_{A}\zeta_{B})'\zeta_{B}^{-1}(\chi_{A}\partial_{x}z_{2} - (\chi_{A}\zeta_{B})'\zeta_{B}^{-1}z_{2}).$$
(7.14)

Recalling that $v_2 = (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} u_2$ (see (5.1)), (5.5) and using (7.14), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \int \chi_{A}^{3} e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_{2}^{2} \right| &= \left| \int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} (\zeta_{A}\zeta_{B})^{-1} w_{2} \chi_{A}^{3} \zeta_{B} (1-\gamma \partial_{x}^{2}) v_{2} \right| \\ &\lesssim \int |w_{2}| \chi_{A}^{3} \zeta_{B}| (1-\gamma \partial_{x}^{2}) v_{2}| \\ &\lesssim \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \|\chi_{A}^{3} \zeta_{B} \partial_{x}^{2} v_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + \gamma \|w_{2}\|_{L^{2}} (\|\partial_{x}^{2} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \\ &+ B^{-1} \|\partial_{x} z_{2}\|_{L^{2}} + B^{-1} \|z_{2}\|_{L^{2}}). \end{split}$$

Using the Cauchy inequality and (7.13), we get for $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 \lesssim (\varepsilon + \gamma) \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \gamma \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \gamma B^{-1} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2,$$

and, by (5.6), choosing $\varepsilon = \delta^{1/20}$, we get

$$\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 \lesssim \delta^{1/20} \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{\delta^{1/20}} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{1/2} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2$$

which proves (7.11).

7.3. Third coercivity estimate

Notice that on the variation of the functional \mathcal{I} (see (4.19)), the integral term

$$\left(\int \varphi_A H' u_2\right)^2$$

can be treated in a similar way to (7.3) in the above lemma, since

$$|\varphi_A H'| \lesssim \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{2}\right),$$

and, by the Hölder inequality, we get

$$\left(\int \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)u_2\right)^2 \lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{2}\right)u_2^2.$$

By (7.11),

$$\left(\int \varphi_A H' u_2\right)^2 \lesssim \delta^{1/20} \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{\delta^{1/20}} \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{2/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \delta^{1/2} \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$

We conclude the following corollary.

Corollary 7.3. Under the assumptions in Proposition 4.2, (4.18) and (5.6), one has for some $C_1 \ge C_0 > 0$,

$$\frac{d}{dt}I \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int (w_2^2 + 3(\partial_x w_1)^2 + (2 - 4C_1\delta)w_1^2)
+ C_1\delta^{1/20}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + \frac{C_1}{\delta^{1/20}}(\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2)
+ C_1\delta^{2/5}(\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$
(7.15)

Proof. Recalling that $V_0 = 2 - 3 \operatorname{sech}^2(y/\sqrt{2})$ (see (1.13)) and calling to mind the definition of w_1 (see (4.17)), we get

$$-\frac{1}{2}\int (V_0 - 4C_0\delta)w_1^2 = -\frac{1}{2}\int (2 - 4C_0\delta)w_1^2 + \frac{3}{2}\int \operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{y}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\zeta_A^2u_1^2$$

The proof concludes by applying (7.10) to the last term on the right-hand side of the above equality.

7.4. Final coercivity estimate

Lastly, we need the following coercivity property for z_2 .

Lemma 7.4. There exists $m_0 > 0$ such that for any $z \in H^1$ it holds that

$$\int (2(\partial_x z)^2 + V_0 z^2) \ge m_0 \|z\|_{H^1}^2.$$
(7.16)

Remark 7.1. Notice that no orthogonality condition is needed in Lemma 7.4. Indeed, the term $2(\partial_x z)^2$ is sufficiently robust to elude the requirement for a very complicated condition to ensure orthogonality on z_2 in Proposition 5.1.

Proof of Lemma 7.4. Define

$$\mathcal{L}_{\#} := -2\partial_x^2 + V_0 = -2\partial_x^2 + 2 - 3\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right).$$

Since $\mathcal{L}_{\#} \geq \mathcal{L}$, we easily have $\mathcal{L}_{\#} \geq 0$. Let us write

$$\mathcal{L}_{\#} = \frac{1}{5}(-\partial_x^2 + 1) + \mathcal{L}_{\#\#}, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\#\#} := -\frac{9}{5}(-\partial_x^2 + 1) - 3\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right).$$

It is not difficult to check that $\mathcal{L}_{\#\#}$ is a classical self-adjoint operator, with first eigenfunction given by

$$\operatorname{sech}^{m}\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right), \quad m = \frac{1}{6}(\sqrt{129} - 3) \sim 1.39,$$

and eigenvalue $\ell = \frac{3}{20}(\sqrt{129} - 11) \sim 0.054 > 0$. Therefore, since $\mathcal{L}_{\#\#} \ge 0$, we conclude (7.16) with $m_0 = \frac{1}{5}$.

From the previous result, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 7.5. Under the hypotheses in Proposition 5.1, the following is satisfied: there exist $C_2 > 0$ and $m_0 > 0$ such that, for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} \leq -\frac{m_0}{4} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2)
+ C_2 \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2 \delta^{6/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(7.17)

Proof. Direct from Proposition 5.1 and Corollary 7.4.

8. Proof of Theorem 1.2

Now we are ready to conclude the proof of Theorem 1.2. Recall the constants $\delta_i > 0$ for i = 1, 2, 3, defined in Propositions 4.2, 5.1 and 6.2.

Proposition 8.1. There exist $C_4 > 0$ and $0 < \delta_4 \le \min{\{\delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3\}}$ such that for any $0 < \delta \le \delta_4$, the following is satisfied. Assume that for all $t \ge 0$, (4.1) holds. Let

$$\mathcal{H} := \mathcal{J} + 16C_2\delta^{1/10}\mathcal{I} + 80C_1C_2C_4\delta^{1/5}\mathcal{M}.$$

Then, under (4.18) and (5.6), one has for all $t \ge 0$,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{H} \lesssim -\delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$
(8.1)

Proof. First, from (7.15), we obtain for $\delta > 0$ small and some C_1 fixed,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{I} \leq -\frac{1}{4}\int (w_2^2 + 3(\partial_x w_1)^2 + w_1^2) + \frac{C_1}{\delta^{1/20}} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2)
+ C_1 \delta^{2/5} (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$
(8.2)

From (7.17) we also have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{J} \leq -\frac{m_0}{4} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2)
+ C_2 \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2 \delta^{6/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(8.3)

Gathering (8.2) and (8.3), we conclude that

$$\frac{d}{dt} (\mathcal{J} + 16C_2 \delta^{1/10} \mathcal{I})
\leq -\frac{m_0}{8} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2)
- 3C_2 \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2)
+ 16C_1 C_2 \delta^{1/2} (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2 \delta^{6/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2
\leq -\frac{m_0}{8} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2)
- 3C_2 \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2)
+ 16C_1 C_2 \delta^{1/2} (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2 \delta^{6/5-1/2} \delta^{1/2} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2. \quad (8.4)$$

On the other hand, from (6.5) and (7.11), we get

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{M} \leq -\frac{1}{2}\int ((\partial_x z_1)^2 + (\partial_x^2 z_2)^2) + 2C_3(\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2) + 2C_3\delta^{1/10}(\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$

Finally, define

$$\mathcal{H} := \mathcal{J} + 16C_2\delta^{1/10}\mathcal{I} + 40C_1C_2\delta^{1/2}\mathcal{M}.$$
(8.5)

We conclude from the last estimate and (8.4),

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} \mathcal{H} &\leq -\frac{m_0}{8} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\quad - 3C_2 \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\quad + 16C_1 C_2 \delta^{1/2} (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2) + C_2 \delta^{6/5} \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\quad - 20C_1 C_2 \delta^{1/2} (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\quad + 80C_1 C_2 C_3 \delta^{1/2} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\quad + 80C_1 C_2 C_3 \delta^{1/10+1/2} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) \end{split}$$

$$\leq -\frac{m_0}{32} (\|z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|z_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x z_2\|_{L^2}^2) - C_2 \delta^{1/10} (\|w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_2\|_{L^2}^2) - C_2 \delta^{1/2} (4C_1 - \delta^{7/10}) (\|\partial_x z_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^2 z_2\|_{L^2}^2).$$

$$(8.6)$$

From (8.6) we obtain (8.1). This ends the proof of the proposition.

We will use now Proposition 8.1 as follows.

Lemma 8.2. One has

$$\int_0^\infty [\|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_1\|_{L^2}^2] dt \lesssim \delta^{11/10}.$$

Proof. Integrating estimate (8.1) on [0, t], we get

$$\int_0^t [\|w_2\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x w_1\|_{L^2}^2 + \|w_1\|_{L^2}^2] dt \lesssim 2 \sup_{0 \le s \le t} |\mathcal{H}(s)| \le 2 \sup_{s \ge 0} |\mathcal{H}(s)|.$$

Now we estimate the functional $\mathcal{H}(t)$. Indeed, from (8.5),

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{H}| &= |\mathcal{J} + 16C_2\delta^{1/10}\mathcal{I} + 80C_1C_2C_4\delta^{1/5}\mathcal{M}| \\ &\lesssim |\mathcal{J}| + \delta^{1/10}|\mathcal{I}| + \delta^{1/5}|\mathcal{M}| \\ &\lesssim \left|\int \psi_{A,B}v_1v_2\right| + \delta^{1/10}\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}}\varphi_A u_1u_2\right| + \delta^{1/5}\left|\int \psi_{A,B}\partial_x v_1\partial_x v_2\right| \\ &\lesssim B\|v_1v_2\|_{L^1} + A\delta^{1/10}\|u_1u_2\|_{L^1} + B\delta^{1/5}\|\partial_x v_1\partial_x v_2\|_{L^1}. \end{aligned}$$

Now, from estimates (5.26), (5.27) and (5.32), we conclude that

$$|\mathcal{H}| \lesssim B\delta^2 \gamma^{-1/2} + A\delta^{2+1/10} + B\delta^{1/5} \gamma^{-1} \delta \gamma^{-1/2} \delta$$

Finally, using (4.18), (5.6),

$$|\mathcal{H}| \lesssim \delta^{1+1/10} (\delta^{6/10} + 1 + \delta^{10/10} + \delta^{4/10}) \lesssim \delta^{11/10}.$$

Passing to the limit as $t \to \infty$, we conclude.

By Lemma 5.7, estimates (5.30)–(5.31), one obtains

$$\int_0^\infty \left(\int (u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2) \operatorname{sech}(y) \right) dt \le \delta.$$
(8.7)

Using the above estimate, we will conclude the proof of Theorem 1.2. Let

$$\mathcal{K}(t) = \int \operatorname{sech}(y)u_1^2 + \int \operatorname{sech}(y)((1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x u_2)^2 =: \mathcal{K}_1(t) + \mathcal{K}_2(t).$$

For \mathcal{K}_1 , using (4.5) and integrating by parts, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\mathcal{K}_1}{dt} &= 2\int \operatorname{sech}(y)(u_1u_1) - \rho' \int \operatorname{sech}'(y)u_1^2 \\ &= 2\int \operatorname{sech}(y)u_1(\partial_x u_2 + \rho' H') - \rho' \int \operatorname{sech}'(y)u_1^2 \\ &= -2\int (\operatorname{sech}'(y)u_1 + \operatorname{sech}(y)\partial_x u_1)u_2 + 2\rho' \int \operatorname{sech}(y)H'(y)u_1 \\ &- \rho' \int \operatorname{sech}'(y)u_1^2. \end{aligned}$$

Then, applying the Hölder inequality, the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and (4.6), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{d}{dt} \mathcal{K}_1(t) \right| &\lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}(y) (u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2) + \left(\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_1^2 \right)^{1/2} \\ &\lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}(y) (u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2). \end{aligned}$$

For \mathcal{K}_2 , passing to the variables (v_1, v_2) (see (5.1)),

$$\mathcal{K}_2 = \int \operatorname{sech}(y) (\partial_x v_2)^2,$$

and using (5.2), we get

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{K}_2 = 2\int \operatorname{sech}(y)\partial_x v_2 \partial_x^2 v_1 + 2\int \operatorname{sech}(y)\partial_x v_2 \partial_x F - \rho' \int \operatorname{sech}'(y)(\partial_x v_2)^2$$

=: $K_{21} + K_{22} + K_{23}$.

Integrating by parts in K_{21} , we have

$$K_{21} = -2\int (\operatorname{sech}'(y)\partial_x v_2 + \operatorname{sech}(y)\partial_x^2 v_2)\partial_x v_1.$$

Using (5.1) we obtain

$$\begin{split} |K_{21}| &\lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}(y) \left((\partial_x (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} u_2)^2 + (\partial_x^2 (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} u_2)^2 \\ &+ (\partial_x (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \mathcal{L} u_1)^2 \right) \\ &\lesssim \| \operatorname{sech}^{1/2}(y) (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x u_2 \|_{L^2}^2 + \| \operatorname{sech}^{1/2}(y) (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} (\partial_x^2 - 1 + 1) u_2 \|_{L^2}^2 \\ &+ \| \operatorname{sech}^{1/2}(y) (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x (\mathcal{L} u_1) \|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$

Using Lemma 5.22, more precisely (5.24) and (5.25), (1.13) and (5.26), we obtain

$$\begin{split} |K_{21}| &\lesssim \frac{1}{\gamma^2} \| \operatorname{sech}^{1/2}(y) u_2 \|_{L^2}^2 + \| \operatorname{sech}^{1/2}(y) (1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} (\mathscr{L} \partial_x u_1 + \partial_x V_0 u_1) \|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\lesssim \gamma^{-2} \int \operatorname{sech}(y) (u_2^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_1^2). \end{split}$$

For K_{22} , we use the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, (5.24) and a similar computation of (6.32); then

$$|K_{22}| \lesssim \int \operatorname{sech}(y) [((1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x u_2)^2 + ((1 - \gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} \partial_x ((u_1^3 + 3Hu_1^2)))^2]$$

$$\lesssim_{\gamma} \int \operatorname{sech}(y) [u_2^2 + u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2].$$

The term K_{23} is bounded as follows: using (5.1)

$$|K_{23}| \lesssim \left(\int e^{-\sqrt{2}|y|} u_2^2\right)^{1/2} \left(\int \operatorname{sech}(y)(\partial_x v_2)^2\right)$$

$$\lesssim \gamma^{-2} \int \operatorname{sech}(y) u_2^2 + \gamma^2 \left(\int \operatorname{sech}(y)(\partial_x (1-\gamma \partial_x^2)^{-1} u_2)^2\right)^2$$

$$\lesssim \gamma^{-2} \int \operatorname{sech}(y) u_2^2 + \left(\int \operatorname{sech}(y) u_2^2\right)^2.$$

Then we conclude that

$$\left|\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{K}_2(t)\right| \lesssim_{\gamma} \int \operatorname{sech}(y)(u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2).$$

By (8.7), there exists an increasing sequence $t_n \to \infty$ such that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} [\mathcal{K}_1(t_n) + \mathcal{K}_2(t_n)] = 0.$$

For $t \ge 0$, integrating on $[t, t_n]$, and passing to the limit as $n \to \infty$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{K}(t) \lesssim \int_t^\infty \left[\int \operatorname{sech}(y) (u_1^2 + (\partial_x u_1)^2 + u_2^2) \right] dt.$$

By (8.7), we deduce

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\mathcal{K}(t)=0.$$

By the decomposition of solution (4.2) and the boundedness in H^1 of u_1 , this implies (1.17). This ends the proof of Theorem 1.2.

A. Proof of Lemma 2.2

The first step is to understand the generalized null space of this operator. By Coppel [19], we know that the asymptotic behavior of the solutions of fourth-order differential equation

$$-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}\phi = 0 \tag{A.1}$$

are determined by the asymptotic behavior of the solutions

$$-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}_0 u = 0$$
, where $\mathcal{L}_0 = -\partial_x^2 + 2$.

One can see, analyzing the coefficient matrix of the first-order system associated to the above equation, that the eigenvalues are simple and given by $\pm \sqrt{2}$ and 0 is an eigenvalue of multiplicity two. Then, by [19, Theorem 4 of Chapter 4], the asymptotic behavior of the solutions of (A.1) are, modulo scaling, as $x \to +\infty$,

$$e^{-\sqrt{2}x}, e^{\sqrt{2}x}, 1, x$$

Using classical techniques of ODEs and the principle of superposition, one obtains that the solution of $-\partial_x^2 \mathcal{L}\phi = 0$ is a linear combination of the linearly independent functions

$$u_0(x) = H'(x), \quad u_1(x) = H'(x) \int_0^x (H'(y))^{-2} dy,$$

$$u_2(x) = -2H'(x) \int_0^x (H'(y))^{-2} \int_{-\infty}^y H'(s) ds dy,$$

$$u_3(x) = H'(x) \int_0^x (H'(y))^{-2} \int_{-\infty}^y sH'(s) ds dy.$$

We also have $\lim_{x\to-\infty} u_0(x) = 0$, but the others do not belong to L^2 :

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} u_1(x) = \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{\int_0^x (H'(y))^{-2} \, dy}{(H'(x))^{-1}} = \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{(H'(x))^{-2}}{-(H'(x))^{-2} H''(x)}$$
$$= \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{1}{-H(H^2 - 1)} = +\infty.$$

Also,

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} u_2(x) = \lim_{x \to -\infty} -2 \frac{\int_0^x (H'(y))^{-2} (H(y) + 1) \, dy}{(H'(x))^{-1}}$$
$$= \lim_{x \to -\infty} -2 \frac{(H'(x))^{-2} (H(x) + 1)}{-(H'(x))^{-2} H''(x)}$$
$$= \lim_{x \to -\infty} -2 \frac{H(x) + 1}{-H(H - 1)(H + 1)} = 1.$$

Finally,

$$\lim_{x \to -\infty} u_3(x) = \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{\int_0^x (H'(y))^{-2} \int_{-\infty}^y sH'(s) \, ds \, dy}{(H'(x))^{-1}}$$
$$= \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{(H'(x))^{-2} \int_{-\infty}^x sH'(s) \, ds}{-(H'(x))^{-2} H''(x)} = \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{\int_{-\infty}^x sH'(s) \, ds}{-H''(x)}$$
$$= \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{xH'(x)}{-H''(x)} = \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{xH'(x)}{-H'(x)(3H^2 - 1)}$$
$$= \lim_{x \to -\infty} \frac{x}{1 - 3H^2} = -\infty.$$

This proves Lemma 2.2.

B. Proof of Lemma 2.5

Replacing \mathcal{L} (see (1.13)) and integrating by parts, we get

$$\langle \eta \mathcal{L}(f), g \rangle = \int \eta [\partial_x f \partial_x g + V_0 f g] + \langle \eta' \partial_x f, g \rangle.$$

In particular, we get

$$\begin{split} \langle \eta \partial_x \mathcal{L}(f), f \rangle &= \int \eta [-\partial_x^3 f f + \partial_x (V_0 f) f] \\ &= \int \eta [\partial_x^2 f \partial_x f + V_0' f^2 + V_0 \partial_x f f] + \int \eta' \partial_x^2 f f \\ &= \int \eta \Big(\frac{1}{2} \partial_x [(\partial_x f)^2] + V_0' f^2 + \frac{1}{2} V_0 \partial_x [f^2] \Big) - \int \partial_x (\eta' f) \partial_x f \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \eta' [(\partial_x f)^2 + V_0 f^2] + \int \eta V_0' f^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int \eta V_0' f^2 \\ &- \int (\eta'' f + \eta' \partial_x f) \partial_x f \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int \eta' [3(\partial_x f)^2 + V_0 f^2] + \frac{1}{2} \int \eta V_0' f^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \eta''' f^2. \end{split}$$

Lastly, integrating by parts, we have

$$\langle \eta \mathcal{L}(\partial_x f), f \rangle = \int \eta [-\partial_x^3 f f + V_0 \partial_x f f]$$

= $-\frac{1}{2} \int \eta' [3(\partial_x f)^2 + V_0 f^2] - \frac{1}{2} \int \eta V_0' f^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \eta''' f^2.$

The proof is complete.

C. Local well-posedness

In this section, we will prove that the small perturbations around the static kink are in fact locally well posed on the energy spaces associated, i.e. on $H^1 \times L^2$. It has been proved that the linear part of (2.6) is well posed on $H^1 \times L^2$ (see [53]). Now we will focus on whether the nonlinear equation associated to (2.6) is locally well posed. Notice that (2.6) is equivalent to

$$\partial_t^2 u_1 - 2\partial_x^2 u_1 + \partial_x^4 u_1 - \partial_x^2 F(t, x, u_1) = 0,$$

where $F(t, x, u_1) = 3u_1(H^2 - 1) + u_1^2(u_1 + 3H)$, satisfies (2.9). Let the operator Φ be given by

$$\Phi[u](t) = \mathscr{G}(t)u_1^0(x) + \mathscr{K}(t)u_2^0(x) + \int_0^t \mathscr{K}(t-s)\partial_x^2 F(s,x,u) \, ds, \tag{C.1}$$

where

$$\mathscr{G}(t) = \mathscr{F}^{-1}G(t,\xi)\mathscr{F}, \quad \mathscr{K}(t) = \mathscr{F}^{-1}K(t,\xi)\mathscr{F}$$

 \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{-1} represent the Fourier transform and its inverse, respectively. The Fourier multipliers are given by

$$G(t,\xi) = \cos(\omega(\xi)t), \quad K(t,\xi) = \frac{\sin(\omega(\xi)t)}{\omega(\xi)}, \text{ and } \omega(\xi) = |\xi|\sqrt{\xi^2 + 2}.$$

Following the ideas in the proof of [53], we will use a contraction mapping argument and analogous estimates in the linear case.

Remark C.1. One will notice that $\frac{1}{2}\omega(\xi) = \phi(\tilde{\xi}) = |\tilde{\xi}|\sqrt{1+\tilde{\xi}^2}$, where the last one is the same symbol studied by Linares for the good-Boussinesq equation. In fact, letting $v \in L^2$ and considering $\xi = \tau/\sqrt{2}$, we get

$$V_1(2t)v(\sqrt{2}x) = \int e^{i(2t\phi(\xi) + \sqrt{2}x\xi)} \widehat{v(\sqrt{2}x)}(\xi) d\xi$$
$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \int e^{i(2t\phi(\xi) + \sqrt{2}x\xi)} \widehat{v(x)}\left(\frac{\xi}{\sqrt{2}}\right) d\xi$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int e^{i(tw(\tau) + x\tau)} \widehat{v}\left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right) d\tau.$$

Let *u* be a function such that $(\widehat{u(x)})(\tau) = (\widehat{v(x)})(\tau/2)$; then

$$V_1(2t)v(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int e^{i(tw(\tau) + x\tau)} \widehat{u(y)}(\tau) d\tau = \widetilde{V}_1(t)u(y)$$

where $\tilde{V}_1 = \mathcal{F}^{-1}[e^{iw(\tau)t}\mathcal{F}]$ is related to the Fourier multiplier \mathcal{G} . It is analogous for V_2 and the Fourier multiplier \mathcal{K} .

The following results have been proved in [52, 53].

Lemma C.1 ([53, Lemma 2.7]). Let $f \in L^2$ and

$$V_1(t)f(x) = \int e^{i(t\phi(\xi) + x\xi)} \hat{f}(\xi) \, d\xi,$$

where $\phi(\xi) = |\xi|(1+\xi^2)^{1/2}$. Then

$$\|V_1(t)f\|_{L^2} \le \|f\|_{L^2}$$

and

$$\left(\int_0^T \|V_1(t)f\|_{L^{\infty}}^4 dt\right)^{1/4} \le c(1+T^{1/4})\|f\|_{L^2}.$$

Lemma C.2 ([53, Lemma 2.8]). Let $g = h' \in L^2$ and

$$V_2(t)h'(x) = \int e^{i(t\phi(\xi) + x\xi)} \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\xi)\hat{h}(\xi)}{(1 + \xi^2)^{1/2}} d\xi.$$

Then

$$\|V_2(t)h'\|_{L^2} \le c \|h\|_{H^{-1}}$$

and

$$\left(\int_0^T \|V_2(t)h'\|_{L^{\infty}}^4 dt\right)^{1/4} \le c(1+T^{1/4})\|h\|_{H^{-1}}$$

Lemma C.3 ([53, Lemma 2.8]). Let $g = p'' \in L^2$ and

$$V_2(t)p''(x) = \int e^{i(t\phi(\xi) + x\xi)} \frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\xi)\xi\hat{h}(\xi)}{(1 + \xi^2)^{1/2}} d\xi.$$

Then

$$\|V_2(t)p''\|_{L^2} \le c \|p\|_{L^2}$$

and

$$\left(\int_0^T \|V_2(t)p''\|_{L^{\infty}}^4 dt\right)^{1/4} \le c \|p\|_{L^2}.$$

Finally, we have the following lemma.

Lemma C.4 ([53, Proposition 2.12]). Let

$$(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t V_1(t)f(x) = \int i|\xi|^{-1}\phi(\xi)e^{i(t\phi(\xi)+x\xi)}\hat{f}(\xi)\,d\xi,$$

$$(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t V_2(t)h'(x) = \int i|\xi|^{-1}e^{i(t\phi(\xi)+x\xi)}\frac{\operatorname{sgn}(\xi)\hat{h}(\xi)}{(1+\xi^2)^{1/2}}\,d\xi$$

and

$$(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t V_2(t)p''(x) = \int i|\xi|^{-1}e^{i(t\phi(\xi)+x\xi)}\frac{\xi\hat{p}(\xi)}{(1+\xi^2)^{1/2}}\,d\xi.$$

Then

$$\|(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t V_1(t)f\|_{L^2} \le C \|f\|_{H^1},\\ \|(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t V_2(t)h'\|_{L^2} \le C \|h\|_{L^2}$$

and

$$\|(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t V_2(t)p''\|_{L^2} \le C \|p\|_{H^1}.$$

Let the operator Φ be given by (C.1) and, similarly to [53],

$$Y_T^a = \left\{ u \in C([0,T]: H^1(\mathbb{R})) \cap L^4([0,T]; L_1^\infty(\mathbb{R})) \mid (-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2} \partial_t u \in C([0,T], L^2(\mathbb{R})), \\ \sup_{[0,T]} \| (1 - \partial_x^2)^{1/2} u(t) \|_{L^2} \le a, \\ \sup_{[0,T]} \| (-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2} \partial_t u(t) \|_{L^2} \le a \\ \text{and } \| u \|_1 \le a \right\},$$

where

$$\|u\|_{1} = \left(\int_{0}^{T} \|u(t)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{4} dt\right)^{1/4} + \left(\int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{x}u(t)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{4} dt\right)^{1/4}.$$

Remark C.2. The multipliers \mathscr{G} and \mathscr{K} are directly related to V_1 and V_2 , respectively. This means that, considering Remark C.1, Lemmas C.1, C.2, C.3 and C.4 are valid for \mathscr{G} and \mathscr{K} , respectively.

First, we will show the following proposition.

Proposition C.5. Let $u_1^0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $u_2^0 = \partial_x \tilde{u}_0^2 \in L^2$, and define $\Phi[u]$ as in (C.1). *Then*

$$\Phi: Y_T^a \to Y_T^a$$

for some $T = T(\delta)$, where δ such that $||u_1^0||_{H^1}, ||u_2^0||_{L^2} \leq \delta$.

We will need the following technical lemma to manage the nonlinearity of F.

Lemma C.6. Let F be as in (2.7), then the following inequalities hold:

$$\|F(t, x, u)\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|u(H^{2} - 1)\|_{L^{2}} + (\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}})\|u\|_{L^{2}}, \|\partial_{x}F\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim (1 + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}})\|uH'\|_{L^{2}} + \|\partial_{x}u(H^{2} - 1)\|_{L^{2}} + (\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}})\|\partial_{x}u\|_{L^{2}}$$
(C.2)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|F(t, x, u) - F(t, x, v)\|_{L^{2}} \\ \lesssim \|u - v\|_{L^{2}}(\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|w\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}) \\ &+ \|(u - v)(H^{2} - 1)\|_{L^{2}}, \\ \|\partial_{x}F(s, x, u) - \partial_{x}F(s, x, v)\|_{L^{2}} \\ \lesssim \|\partial_{x}u - \partial_{x}v\|(\|u\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}) \\ &+ \|u - v\|_{L^{2}}(\|u\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \\ &+ \|\partial_{x}v\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}) \\ &+ \|(H^{2} - 1)(\partial_{x}u - \partial_{x}v)\|_{L^{2}} + \|6HH'(u - v)\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$
(C.3)

Proof. The first inequality follows directly from the definition of F. For the second inequality, we notice that

$$\partial_x F(t, x, u) = 3uH'(2H + u) + \partial_x u(H^2 - 1) + (3u^2 + 6Hu)\partial_x u.$$

Then we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_x F(t,x,u)\|_{L^2_x} &\lesssim (1+\|u\|_{L^{\infty}})\|uH'\|_{L^2} + \|\partial_x u(H^2-1)\|_{L^2} \\ &+ (\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}})\|\partial_x u\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Second, using (2.8), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|F(t,x,u) - F(t,x,v)\|_{L^2} &\leq 3\|(u-v)(H^2-1)\|_{L^2} \\ &+ \|u-v\|_{L^2}(\|u\|_{L^\infty}^2 + \|v\|_{L^\infty}^2 + \|u\|_{L^\infty} + \|v\|_{L^\infty}). \end{aligned}$$

For the last inequality, we notice that

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_x (F(t, x, u) - F(t, x, v))| \\ \lesssim |\partial_x u - \partial_x v| |(H^2 - 1) + u^2 + v^2 + u + v| \\ + |u - v| |6HH' + u + v + u^2 + v^2 + (\partial_x u)^2 + (\partial_x v)^2|. \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_x F(t, x, u) - \partial_x F(t, x, v)\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq \|\partial_x u - \partial_x v\|(\|u\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}^2) \\ &+ \|u - v\|_{L^2}(\|u\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|\partial_x u\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|\partial_x v\|_{L^{\infty}}^2) \\ &+ \|(H^2 - 1)(\partial_x u - \partial_x v)\|_{L^2} + \|6HH'(u - v)\|_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

This concludes the proof.

Now we prove Proposition C.5.

Proof of C.5. First, we will focus on the norms $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}_{t}L^{2}_{x}}$. By Remark C.1, Lemmas C.1 and C.2 and the Hölder inequality, we get

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\Phi[u]\|_{L^{2}} \leq \sup_{[0,T]} \|\mathcal{S}(t)u_{1}^{0}(x)\|_{L^{2}} + \sup_{[0,T]} \|\mathcal{K}(t)u_{2}^{0}(x)\|_{L^{2}} + \sup_{[0,T]} \left\|\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{K}(t-s)\partial_{x}^{2}F(s,x,u) \, ds\right\|_{L^{2}} \leq c \|u_{1}^{0}(x)\|_{L^{2}} + \|\tilde{u}_{2}^{0}(x)\|_{H^{-1}} + \int_{0}^{T} \|F(s,x,u)\|_{L^{2}} \, ds.$$

Using (C.2) and the Sobolev embedding, one has

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\Phi[u]\|_{L^2} \le c \|u_1^0(x)\|_{H^1} + \|\tilde{u}_2^0(x)\|_{L^2} + cT \sup_{[0,T]} (\|u\|_{H^1} + \|u\|_{H^1}^3 + \|u\|_{H^1}^2).$$

Similarly, for the term $\partial_x \Phi$, using Lemmas C.1 and C.2 it is obtained that

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_x \Phi[u]\|_{L^2} \le \|\partial_x u_1^0(x)\|_{L^2} + \|u_2^0(x)\|_{L^2} + \int_0^T \|\partial_x F(s, x, u) \, ds\|_{L^2}.$$

From (C.2) and the Sobolev embedding, we get

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_x \Phi[u]\|_{L^2} \le c(\|u_1^0(x)\|_{H^1} + \|u_2^0(x)\|_{L^2}) + cT \sup_{[0,T]} (\|u\|_{H^1} + \|u\|_{H^1}^2 + \|u\|_{H^1}^3).$$

Then we arrive at

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\Phi[u]\|_{H^{1}} \leq \sup_{[0,T]} \|\Phi[u]\|_{L^{2}} + \sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_{x}\Phi[u]\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq 2c(\|u_{1}^{0}(x)\|_{H^{1}} + \|u_{2}^{0}(x)\|_{L^{2}}) + 2cT \sup_{[0,T]} (\|u\|_{H^{1}} + \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{3}).$$

Hence, if

$$a = 8c\delta$$
 and $T = \delta^4/4c$,

we obtain

$$4c\delta + 2cTa(1 + a + a^2) = 4c\delta(1 + 4cT(1 + a + a^2)) < 8c\delta.$$

Now, to estimate $(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2} \partial_t \Phi[u]$, we will use Lemma C.4 and (C.2); we obtain

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \| (-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2} \partial_t \Phi[u] \|_{L^2} \le c (\| u_1^0(x) \|_{H^1} + \| u_2^0(x) \|_{L^2}) \\ + cT \sup_{[0,T]} (\| u \|_{H^1} + \| u \|_{H^1}^2 + \| u \|_{H^1}^3).$$

As before,

$$2c\delta + acT(1 + a + a^2) = 2c\delta(1 + 2cT(1 + a + a^2)) < 8c\delta.$$

Finally, we will estimate the $L^4 L^{\infty}$ norm. Applying Lemmas C.3, C.2 and C.1 and using (C.2), we get

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi[u]\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} &\leq \|\mathscr{G}(t)u^0_1(x)\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} + \|\mathcal{K}(t)u^0_2(x)\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} \\ &+ \left\|\int_0^t \mathcal{K}(t-s)\partial^2_x F(s,x,u)\,ds\right\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} \\ &\leq (1+T^{1/4})\|u^0_1\|_{L^2} + \|\tilde{u}^0_2\|_{L^2} + cT \sup_{[0,T]} (\|u\|_{H^1} + \|u\|^2_{H^1} + \|u\|^3_{H^1}). \end{split}$$

Similarly to the above estimates we obtain

$$\|\partial_x \Phi[u]\|_{L_T^4 L_x^\infty} \le (1+T^{1/4})(\|u_1^0\|_{L^2} + \|\tilde{u}_2^0\|_{L^2}) + cT \sup_{[0,T]} (\|u\|_{H^1} + \|u\|_{H^1}^2 + \|u\|_{H^1}^3).$$

Finally,

$$\begin{split} \||\Phi[u]||_1 &= \|\Phi[u]\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} + \|\partial_x \Phi[u]\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} \\ &\leq 2c\delta(1+T^{1/4}) + 2cTa(1+a+a^2), \end{split}$$

and we get

$$2c\delta[(1+T^{1/4})+2cTa(1+a+a^2)]=2c\delta[(1+T^{1/4})+2cT(1+a+a^2)]<8c\delta.$$

This ends the proof of the proposition.

Second, we will prove that Φ is a contraction mapping.

Theorem C.7. Let $u_1^0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R})$ and $u_2^0 = \partial_x \tilde{u}_0^2 \in L^2$. Then there exist $T = T(\delta)$ and a unique solution of the integral equation (C.1) in [0, T] with

$$u \in C([0, T]; H^1(\mathbb{R})) \cap L^4([0, T]; L^{\infty})$$

and

$$(-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2}\partial_t u \in C([0,T];L^2(\mathbb{R}))$$

Proof. Proposition C.5 ensures that $\Phi[u]: Y_T^a \to Y_T^a$, so we only need to show that Φ is a contraction. First, we notice that

$$(\Phi[u] - \Phi[v])(t) = \int_0^t \mathcal{K}(t-s)\partial_x^2(F(s,x,u) - F(x,s,v)) \, ds.$$

Now, we will focus on the $L_t^{\infty} L_x^2$ norm. By the Hölder inequality and Lemma C.3, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sup_{[0,T]} \|\Phi[u] - \Phi[v]\|_{L^{2}}(t) \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{T} \|u^{2} + (u+v)(v+3H)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|u-v\|_{L^{2}} \, ds \\ &+ C \int_{0}^{T} \||u-v|| 3(H^{2}-1)|\|_{L^{2}} \, ds \\ &\leq C \sup_{[0,T]} \|u-v\|_{L^{2}} \bigg(\int_{0}^{T} (\|u\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|u\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|v\|_{L^{\infty}}) \, ds + \int_{0}^{T} 1 \, ds \bigg). \end{split}$$

Applying the Hölder inequality,

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\Phi[u] - \Phi[v]\|_{L^2}(t) \le CT^{1/2} [2a^2 + 2T^{1/4}a + T^{1/2}] \sup_{[0,T]} \|u - v\|_{L^2}.$$

Then, by (C.3),

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_x \Phi[u] - \partial_x \Phi[v]\|_{L^2}(t)$$

$$\leq C \int_0^T \|\partial_x u - \partial_x w\|_{L^2} \|u^2 + v^2 + u + v\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$+ C \int_0^T \|u - w\|_{L^2} \|u + v + u^2 + v^2 + (\partial_x u)^2 + (\partial_x v)^2\|_{L^{\infty}} ds$$

$$+ C \int_0^T \|(\partial_x u - \partial_x w)(H^2 - 1)\|_{L^2} + C \int_0^T \|(u - w)6HH'\|_{L^2} ds. \quad (C.4)$$

Hence, by Lemma C.3, we get

$$\begin{split} \sup_{[0,T]} &\|\partial_x \Phi[u] - \partial_x \Phi[v]\|_{L^2}(t) \\ &\leq C \sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_x u - \partial_x w\|_{L^2} [2a^2T^{1/2} + 2T^{3/4}a + T] \\ &+ C \sup_{[0,T]} \|u - w\|_{L^2} [2T^{3/4}a + 4T^{1/2}a^2 + T] \\ &\leq C \Big(\sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_x u - \partial_x w\|_{L^2} + \sup_{[0,T]} \|u - w\|_{L^2} \Big) [4a^2T^{1/2} + 2T^{3/4}a + T]. \end{split}$$

Now, as in (C.4),

$$\sup_{[0,T]} \| (-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2} \partial_t \Phi[u] - (-\partial_x^2)^{-1/2} \partial_t \Phi[v] \|_{L^2_x}$$

$$\leq C \Big(\sup_{[0,T]} \| \partial_x u - \partial_x w \|_{L^2} + \sup_{[0,T]} \| u - w \|_{L^2} \Big) [4a^2 T^{1/2} + 2T^{3/4}a + T].$$

Finally, we will estimate the $L_T^4 L_x^\infty$ norm. Using the Hölder inequality, we get

$$\|\Phi[u] - \Phi[v]\|_{L^4_t L^\infty_x} \le C T^{1/2} [2a^2 + 2T^{1/4}a + T^{1/2}] \sup_{[0,T]} \|u - v\|_{L^2}$$

Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_x \Phi[u] - \partial_x \Phi[v]\|_{L^4_T L^\infty_x} \\ &\leq C \Big(\sup_{[0,T]} \|\partial_x u - \partial_x w\|_{L^2} + \sup_{[0,T]} \|u - w\|_{L^2} \Big) [4a^2 T^{1/2} + 2T^{3/4}a + T]. \end{aligned}$$

Then, for $T = \delta^4/4c < 1$ and $a = 8c\delta$, we get

$$4a^{2}T^{1/2} + 2T^{3/4}a + T \le \delta^{4}(3(8c)^{2} + (8c+1)^{2}),$$

$$2a^{2}T^{1/2} + 2T^{3/4}a + T \le \delta^{4}((8c)^{2} + (8c+1)^{2}),$$

and for δ small enough we obtain that Φ is a contraction.

Acknowledgments. We are grateful to the anonymous referees whose comments have helped us to improve the article. Ch. Ma. thanks Sebastian Herr and Lars Eric Hientzsch for support and interesting comments and suggestions. Both authors thank the Banff Center (Canada), where part of this work was done.

Funding. Ch.Ma. was partially funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) – Project-ID 317210226 – SFB 1283, and Chilean research grants FONDECYT 1191412. Cl.Mu. was partially funded by Chilean research grants FONDECYT 1191412, 1231250, and Basal CMM FB210005.

References

- M. A. Alejo, M. F. Cortez, C. Kwak, and C. Muñoz, On the dynamics of zero-speed solutions for Camassa–Holm-type equations. *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN* (2021), no. 9, 6543–6585 Zbl 1473.35039 MR 4251285
- [2] M. A. Alejo and C. Muñoz, Almost sharp nonlinear scattering in one-dimensional Born–Infeld equations arising in nonlinear electrodynamics. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 146 (2018), no. 5, 2225–2237 Zbl 1384.37095 MR 3767373
- [3] M. A. Alejo, C. Muñoz, and J. M. Palacios, On asymptotic stability of the sine-Gordon kink in the energy space. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 402 (2023), no. 1, 581–636 Zbl 1523.35254 MR 4616683
- [4] N. D. Alikakos, P. W. Bates, and X. Chen, Convergence of the Cahn–Hilliard equation to the Hele-Shaw model. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 128 (1994), no. 2, 165–205 Zbl 0828.35105 MR 1308851
- [5] D. Bambusi and S. Cuccagna, On dispersion of small energy solutions to the nonlinear Klein Gordon equation with a potential. *Amer. J. Math.* 133 (2011), no. 5, 1421–1468
 Zbl 1237.35115 MR 2843104
- [6] P. Bizoń, T. Chmaj, and N. Szpak, Dynamics near the threshold for blowup in the onedimensional focusing nonlinear Klein–Gordon equation. J. Math. Phys. 52 (2011), no. 10, 103703, 11 Zbl 1272.35174 MR 2894613
- [7] J. L. Bona, M. Chen, and J.-C. Saut, Boussinesq equations and other systems for smallamplitude long waves in nonlinear dispersive media. I. Derivation and linear theory. J. Nonlinear Sci. 12 (2002), no. 4, 283–318 Zbl 1022.35044 MR 1915939
- [8] J. L. Bona, M. Chen, and J.-C. Saut, Boussinesq equations and other systems for smallamplitude long waves in nonlinear dispersive media. II. The nonlinear theory. *Nonlinearity* 17 (2004), no. 3, 925–952 Zbl 1059.35103 MR 2057134
- [9] J. L. Bona and R. L. Sachs, Global existence of smooth solutions and stability of solitary waves for a generalized Boussinesq equation. *Comm. Math. Phys.* **118** (1988), no. 1, 15–29 Zbl 0654.35018 MR 954673
- [10] J. Boussinesq, Théorie des ondes et des remous qui se propagent le long d'un canal rectangulaire horizontal, en communiquant au liquide contenu dans ce canal des vitesses sensiblement pareilles de la surface au fond. J. Math. Pures Appl. (2) 17 (1872), 55–108 Zbl 04.0493.04 MR 3363411
- [11] F. P. Bretherton, Resonant interactions between waves. The case of discrete oscillations. J. Fluid Mech. 20 (1964), 457–479 MR 173459
- [12] J. Bricmont, A. Kupiainen, and J. Taskinen, Stability of Cahn–Hilliard fronts. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 52 (1999), no. 7, 839–871 Zbl 0939.35022 MR 1682804
- [13] L. A. Caffarelli and N. E. Muler, An L^{∞} bound for solutions of the Cahn–Hilliard equation. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 133 (1995), no. 2, 129–144 Zbl 0851.35010 MR 1367359
- [14] J. W. Cahn and J. E. Hilliard, Free energy of a nonuniform system. I. Interfacial free energy. J. Chem. Phys. 28 (1958), 258–267 Zbl 1431.35066
- [15] E. A. Carlen, M. C. Carvalho, and E. Orlandi, A simple proof of stability of fronts for the Cahn–Hilliard equation. pp. 323–340, 224, 2001 *Comm. Math. Phys.* 224 (2001), no. 1, 323– 340 Zbl 1019.35013 MR 1869002
- [16] G. Chen, J. Liu, and B. Lu, Long-time asymptotics and stability for the sine-Gordon equation. [v1] 2020, [v2] 2022, arXiv:2009.04260v2

- [17] G. Chen and J. Jendrej, Strichartz estimates for Klein–Gordon equations with moving potentials. [v1] 2022, [v2] 2023, arXiv:2210.03462v2
- [18] G. Chen and J. Jendrej, Asymptotic stability and classification of multi-solitons for Klein– Gordon equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 405 (2024), no. 1, article no. 7 Zbl 07793843 MR 4691857
- [19] W. A. Coppel, Stability and asymptotic behavior of differential equations. D. C. Heath, Boston, MA, 1965 Zbl 0154.09301 MR 190463
- [20] S. Cuccagna, On asymptotic stability in 3D of kinks for the ϕ^4 model. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **360** (2008), no. 5, 2581–2614 Zbl 1138.35062 MR 2373326
- [21] S. Cuccagna and M. Maeda, Asymptotic stability of kink with internal modes under odd perturbation. *NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl.* **30** (2023), no. 1, article no. 1 Zbl 1500.35038 MR 4499137
- [22] J.-M. Delort and N. Masmoudi, Long-time dispersive estimates for perturbations of a kink solution of one-dimensional cubic wave equations. Mem. Eur. Math. Soc. 1, EMS Press, Berlin, 2022 Zbl 1515.35004 MR 4529848
- [23] C. M. Elliott and Z. Songmu, On the Cahn–Hilliard equation. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 96 (1986), no. 4, 339–357 Zbl 0624.35048 MR 855754
- [24] R. Folino, C. Lattanzio, and C. Mascia, Slow dynamics for the hyperbolic Cahn–Hilliard equation in one-space dimension. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.* 42 (2019), no. 8, 2492–2512
 Zbl 1473.35024 MR 3949520
- [25] P. Germain and F. Pusateri, Quadratic Klein–Gordon equations with a potential in one dimension. Forum Math. Pi 10 (2022), article no. e17 Zbl 1495.35126 MR 4451296
- [26] P. Germain, F. Pusateri, and K. Z. Zhang, On 1d quadratic Klein–Gordon equations with a potential and symmetries. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 247 (2023), no. 2, article no. 17 Zbl 1508.35120 MR 4553942
- [27] N. Hayashi and P. I. Naumkin, The initial value problem for the cubic nonlinear Klein–Gordon equation. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 59 (2008), no. 6, 1002–1028 Zbl 1190.35199 MR 2457221
- [28] N. Hayashi and P. I. Naumkin, The initial value problem for the quadratic nonlinear Klein– Gordon equation. Adv. Math. Phys. (2010), article no. 504324 Zbl 1201.81048 MR 2606489
- [29] N. Hayashi and P. I. Naumkin, Quadratic nonlinear Klein–Gordon equation in one dimension. J. Math. Phys. 53 (2012), no. 10, article no. 103711 Zbl 1282.35347 MR 3050628
- [30] D. B. Henry, J. F. Perez, and W. F. Wreszinski, Stability theory for solitary-wave solutions of scalar field equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 85 (1982), no. 3, 351–361 Zbl 0546.35062 MR 678151
- [31] P. Howard, Asymptotic behavior near planar transition fronts for the Cahn–Hilliard equation. *Phys. D* 229 (2007), no. 2, 123–165 Zbl 1120.35017 MR 2341157
- [32] P. Howard, Asymptotic behavior near transition fronts for equations of generalized Cahn-Hilliard form. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 269 (2007), no. 3, 765–808 Zbl 1117.35009 MR 2276360
- [33] P. Howard, Stability of transition front solutions in multidimensional Cahn–Hilliard systems. J. Nonlinear Sci. 26 (2016), no. 3, 619–661 Zbl 1381.35068 MR 3490528
- [34] S. Ibrahim, N. Masmoudi, and K. Nakanishi, Scattering threshold for the focusing nonlinear Klein–Gordon equation. Anal. PDE 4 (2011), no. 3, 405–460 Zbl 1270.35132 MR 2872122
- [35] J. Jendrej, M. Kowalczyk, and A. Lawrie, Dynamics of strongly interacting kink-antikink pairs for scalar fields on a line. *Duke Math. J.* 171 (2022), no. 18, 3643–3705 Zbl 1504.35068 MR 4516306

- [36] A. Kairzhan and F. Pusateri, Asymptotic stability near the soliton for quartic Klein–Gordon equation in 1D. Pure Appl. Anal. 5 (2023), no. 4, 795–832 Zbl 07787347 MR 4680525
- [37] E. Kopylova and A. I. Komech, On asymptotic stability of kink for relativistic Ginzburg– Landau equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 202 (2011), no. 1, 213–245 Zbl 1256.35146 MR 2835867
- [38] E. A. Kopylova and A. I. Komech, On asymptotic stability of moving kink for relativistic Ginzburg–Landau equation. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 302 (2011), no. 1, 225–252 Zbl 1256.35146 MR 2770013
- [39] T. Korvola, Stability of Cahn-Hilliard fronts in three dimensions. Ph.D. thesis, Helsingin Yliopisto (Finland), 2003 MR 2715594
- [40] T. Korvola, A. Kupiainen, and J. Taskinen, Anomalous scaling for three-dimensional Cahn-Hilliard fronts. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 58 (2005), no. 8, 1077–1115 Zbl 1078.35049 MR 2143527
- [41] M. Kowalczyk and Y. Martel, Kink dynamics under odd perturbations for (1+1)-scalar field models with one internal mode. 2022 arXiv:2203.04143v1
- [42] M. Kowalczyk, Y. Martel, and C. Muñoz, Kink dynamics in the φ⁴ model: Asymptotic stability for odd perturbations in the energy space. J. Amer. Math. Soc. **30** (2017), no. 3, 769–798 Zbl 1387.35419 MR 3630087
- [43] M. Kowalczyk, Y. Martel, and C. Muñoz, On asymptotic stability of nonlinear waves. In Séminaire Laurent Schwartz—équations aux dérivées partielles et applications. Année 2016–2017, pp. Exp. No. XVIII, Éditions de l'École Polytechnique, Palaiseau, 2017 Zbl 1475.35415 MR 3790944
- [44] M. Kowalczyk, Y. Martel, and C. Muñoz, Soliton dynamics for the 1D NLKG equation with symmetry and in the absence of internal modes. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 24 (2022), no. 6, 2133–2167 Zbl 1486.35122 MR 4404795
- [45] M. Kowalczyk, Y. Martel, C. Muñoz, and H. Van Den Bosch, A sufficient condition for asymptotic stability of kinks in general (1 + 1)-scalar field models. *Ann. PDE* 7 (2021), no. 1, article no. 10 Zbl 1469.35150 MR 4242134
- [46] J. Krieger, K. Nakanishi, and W. Schlag, Global dynamics above the ground state energy for the one-dimensional NLKG equation. *Math. Z.* 272 (2012), no. 1-2, 297–316 Zbl 1263.35002 MR 2968226
- [47] C. Kwak and C. Muñoz, Asymptotic dynamics for the small data weakly dispersive onedimensional Hamiltonian ABCD system. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 373 (2020), no. 2, 1043– 1107 Zbl 1434.35102 MR 4068258
- [48] C. Kwak, C. Muñoz, F. Poblete, and J. C. Pozo, The scattering problem for Hamiltonian ABCD Boussinesq systems in the energy space. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 127 (2019), 121–159 Zbl 1421.35280 MR 3960140
- [49] T. Léger and F. Pusateri, Internal mode-induced growth in 3d nonlinear Klein–Gordon equations. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 33 (2022), no. 3, 695–727 Zbl 1511.35243 MR 4536425
- [50] T. Léger, and F. Pusateri, Internal modes and radiation damping for quadratic Klein–Gordon in 3D. [v1] 2021, [v2] 2022, arXiv:2112.13163v2
- [51] Y. Li and J. Lührmann, Soliton dynamics for the 1D quadratic Klein–Gordon equation with symmetry. J. Differential Equations 344 (2023), 172–202 Zbl 1503.35201 MR 4506085
- [52] F. Linares, Global existence of small solutions for a generalized Boussinesq equation. J. Differential Equations 106 (1993), no. 2, 257–293 Zbl 0801.35111 MR 1251854

- [53] F. Linares, Notes on Boussinesq equation. https://www.yumpu.com/s/a30kiVvsqSSk9YpU, visited on 31 January 2024
- [54] H. Lindblad, J. Lührmann, W. Schlag, and A. Soffer, On modified scattering for 1D quadratic Klein–Gordon equations with non-generic potentials. *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN* (2023), no. 6, 5118–5208 Zbl 1517.35196 MR 4565686
- [55] H. Lindblad, J. Lührmann, and A. Soffer, Decay and asymptotics for the one-dimensional Klein–Gordon equation with variable coefficient cubic nonlinearities. *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 52 (2020), no. 6, 6379–6411 Zbl 1455.35021 MR 4189725
- [56] H. Lindblad, J. Lührmann, and A. Soffer, Asymptotics for 1D Klein–Gordon equations with variable coefficient quadratic nonlinearities. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* 241 (2021), no. 3, 1459–1527 Zbl 1475.35305 MR 4284529
- [57] H. Lindblad and A. Soffer, A remark on asymptotic completeness for the critical nonlinear Klein–Gordon equation. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 73 (2005), no. 3, 249–258 Zbl 1106.35072 MR 2188297
- [58] H. Lindblad and A. Soffer, A remark on long range scattering for the nonlinear Klein–Gordon equation. J. Hyperbolic Differ. Equ. 2 (2005), no. 1, 77–89 Zbl 1080.35044 MR 2134954
- [59] H. Lindblad and A. Soffer, Scattering for the Klein–Gordon equation with quadratic and variable coefficient cubic nonlinearities. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 367 (2015), no. 12, 8861–8909 Zbl 1328.35201 MR 3403074
- [60] H. Lindblad and T. Tao, Asymptotic decay for a one-dimensional nonlinear wave equation. Anal. PDE 5 (2012), no. 2, 411–422 Zbl 1273.35049 MR 2970713
- [61] Y. Liu, Instability and blow-up of solutions to a generalized Boussinesq equation. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 26 (1995), no. 6, 1527–1546 Zbl 0857.35103 MR 1356458
- [62] M. A. Lohe, Soliton structures in $P(\varphi)_2$. Phys. Rev. D, 20 (1979), 3120–3130
- [63] J. Lührmann and W. Schlag, Asymptotic stability of the sine-Gordon kink under odd perturbations. Duke Math. J. 172 (2023), no. 14, 2715–2820 Zbl 07783729 MR 4666301
- [64] J. Lührmann and W. Schlag, On codimension one stability of the soliton for the 1D focusing cubic Klein–Gordon equation. 2023 arXiv:2302.05273v1
- [65] Y. Martel, Linear problems related to asymptotic stability of solitons of the generalized KdV equations. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 38 (2006), no. 3, 759–781 Zbl 1126.35055 MR 2262941
- [66] Y. Martel and F. Merle, A Liouville theorem for the critical generalized Korteweg–de Vries equation. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 79 (2000), no. 4, 339–425 Zbl 0963.37058 MR 1753061
- [67] Y. Martel and F. Merle, Asymptotic stability of solitons of the subcritical gKdV equations revisited. *Nonlinearity* 18 (2005), no. 1, 55–80 Zbl 1064.35171 MR 2109467
- [68] C. Maulén, Asymptotic stability manifolds for solitons in the generalized good Boussinesq equation. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 177 (2023), 260–328 Zbl 07731004 MR 4629757
- [69] C. Maulén and C. Muñoz, Decay in the one dimensional generalized improved Boussinesq equation. *Partial Differ. Equ. Appl.* 1 (2020), no. 1, Paper No. 1, 20 Zbl 1451.35133 MR 4311468
- [70] F. Merle and L. Vega, L² stability of solitons for KdV equation. Int. Math. Res. Not. (2003), no. 13, 735–753 Zbl 1022.35061 MR 1949297
- [71] C. Muñoz, The Gardner equation and the stability of multi-kink solutions of the mKdV equation. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 36 (2016), no. 7, 3811–3843 Zbl 1336.35313 MR 3485854
- [72] C. Muñoz, Instability in nonlinear Schrödinger breathers. *Proyecciones* 36 (2017), no. 4, 653–683 Zbl 1391.35358 MR 3765697

- [73] C. Muñoz and J. M. Palacios, Nonlinear stability of 2-solitons of the sine-Gordon equation in the energy space. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 36 (2019), no. 4, 977–1034 Zbl 1420.35163 MR 3955109
- [74] C. Muñoz, F. Poblete, and J. C. Pozo, Scattering in the energy space for Boussinesq equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 361 (2018), no. 1, 127–141 Zbl 1398.35203 MR 3825937
- [75] K. Nakanishi and W. Schlag, *Invariant manifolds and dispersive Hamiltonian evolution equations*. Zur. Lect. Adv. Math., European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2011 Zbl 1235.37002 MR 2847755
- [76] A. Novick-Cohen, Energy methods for the Cahn-Hilliard equation. Quart. Appl. Math. 46 (1988), no. 4, 681–690 Zbl 0685.35050 MR 973383
- [77] A. Novick-Cohen and L. A. Segel, Nonlinear aspects of the Cahn–Hilliard equation. *Phys. D* 10 (1984), no. 3, 277–298 MR 763473
- [78] R. L. Pego, Front migration in the nonlinear Cahn–Hilliard equation. Proc. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 422 (1989), no. 1863, 261–278 Zbl 0701.35159 MR 997638
- [79] R. L. Pego and M. I. Weinstein, Eigenvalues, and instabilities of solitary waves. *Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A* 340 (1992), no. 1656, 47–94 Zbl 0776.35065 MR 1177566
- [80] R. L. Pego and M. I. Weinstein, Convective linear stability of solitary waves for Boussinesq equations. *Stud. Appl. Math.* 99 (1997), no. 4, 311–375 Zbl 0889.35079 MR 1477120
- [81] S. Snelson, Asymptotic stability for odd perturbations of the stationary kink in the variablespeed ϕ^4 model. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **370** (2018), no. 10, 7437–7460 Zbl 1415.35208 MR 3841854
- [82] A. Soffer and M. I. Weinstein, Multichannel nonlinear scattering for nonintegrable equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 133 (1990), no. 1, 119–146 Zbl 0721.35082 MR 1071238
- [83] A. Soffer and M. I. Weinstein, Time dependent resonance theory. *Geom. Funct. Anal.* 8 (1998), no. 6, 1086–1128 Zbl 0917.35023 MR 1664792
- [84] A. Soffer and M. I. Weinstein, Resonances, radiation damping and instability in Hamiltonian nonlinear wave equations. *Invent. Math.* 136 (1999), no. 1, 9–74 Zbl 0910.35107 MR 1681113
- [85] J. Sterbenz, Dispersive decay for the 1D Klein–Gordon equation with variable coefficient nonlinearities. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 368 (2016), no. 3, 2081–2113 Zbl 1339.35191 MR 3449234

Received 12 June 2023; revised 1 November 2023; accepted 2 November 2023.

Christopher Maulén

Fakultat für Mathematik, Universität Bielefeld, Postfach 10 01 31, 33501 Bielefeld, Germany; cmaulen@math.uni-bielefeld.de

Claudio Muñoz

Departamento de Ingeniería Matemática and Centro de Modelamiento Matemático (UMI 2807 CNRS), Universidad de Chile, Casilla 170 Correo 3, Santiago, Chile; cmunoz@dim.uchile.cl